On incidence, diagnostic algorithms and in-depth characterization of thyroid cancer

Jakob Dahlberg

Department of Surgery Institute of Clinical Sciences Sahlgrenska Academy, University of Gothenburg



UNIVERSITY OF GOTHENBURG

Gothenburg 2024

© Jakob Dahlberg 2024 jakob.dahlberg@vgregion.se

ISBN 978-91-8069-663-0 (PRINT) ISBN 978-91-8069-8069-7 (PDF)

Printed in Borås, Sweden 2024 Printed by Stema Specialtryck AB To my family, my wife Pia and our children Lydia, Nils and Alice

"Everybody counts or nobody counts."

Harry Bosch

On incidence, diagnostic algorithms and in-depth characterization of thyroid cancer

Jakob Dahlberg

Department of Surgery, Institute of Clinical Sciences Sahlgrenska Academy, University of Gothenburg Gothenburg, Sweden

ABSTRACT

Background: Thyroid cancer (TC) incidence has increased dramatically. Overzealous detection of subclinical disease is the most common explanation. However, whether the higher rate of diagnosis of subclinical disease might conceal a true TC increase is unknown. EU-TIRADS has been developed to guide further management of nodules. Real-world data as well as controlled trials on effect and safety are largely missing. Although overall prognosis of TC is excellent, a subgroup of patients has limited treatment options and new ones need to be developed.

Aims: The objectives of Paper I were to investigate which tumor stages of TC were increasing and the modes of detection. Paper II and II aimed at assessing the impact and safety of EU-TIRADS on nodule management. Paper IV aimed to establish PDX model of TC development and drug testing.

Methods: Paper I was a population-based study. Paper II was a single center retrospective cohort study and Paper III was a regional randomized controlled trial. Paper IV was a prospective trial collecting tumor tissues from patients with advanced TC, subsequently transplanted to immunodeficient mice.

Results: TC increased threefold during 2001-2014 in Western Sweden. The increase comprised stages T1a to T3 and the most common mode of detection was clinical symptoms, mainly a palpable tumor. Imaging did not contribute to increased TC incidence. EU-TIRADS reduced cytology by 7% without missing TC diagnosis. Comparing selective and non-selective FNA revealed that EU-TIRADS significantly reduced the frequency of unnecessary FNA. Among fresh tumor tissue samples obtained from advanced TC only squamous cell carcinoma (SCC) was successfully transplanted to immunodeficient mice. Targeted therapy based on mutation profile inhibited PDX growth.

Conclusion: Increased TC incidence in Western Sweden was due to other factors than imaging. A true increase in TC incidence cannot be ruled out. EU-TIRADS does not miss TC diagnosis but has limited impact on the clinical management of thyroid nodules. A thyroid origin of SCC was documented. Novel therapeutic options were suggested arguing for global mutation analysis of all patients with anaplastic TC.

Keywords: thyroid cancer, thyroid nodule, ultrasound, ultrasonography, SCC, PDX

ISBN 978-91-8069-663-0 (PRINT) ISBN 978-91-8069-8069-7 (PDF)

SAMMANFATTNING PÅ SVENSKA

Bakgrund: Sköldkörtelcancer har diagnosticerats i allt högre utsträckning i världen, inklusive Sverige. Flertalet studier rapporterar att ökningen består av tumörer utan klinisk betydelse till följd av ökad användning av ultraljud. Det är inte uppenbart att samma orsaker orsakar incidensökning i Sverige. EU-TIRADS används för att med ultraljud riskvärdera knölar i sköldkörteln. Prognosen för sköldkörtelcancer är oftast god. Enstaka tumörformer har dock ett mer aggressivt förlopp där det idag saknas effektiv behandling.

Syfte: Delarbete I syftade till att undersöka vilka tumörstadier som har ökat samt hur tumörerna har upptäckts i Västra Götaland. Delarbete II och III syftade till att undersöka hur EU-TIRADS påverkade handläggning av knölar i sköldkörteln. Delarbete IV syftade till att etablera en djurmodell för avancerad sköldkörtelcancer för ytterligare karakterisering och läkemedelstestning.

Metod: Delarbete I var en populationsbaserad kohortstudie. Delarbete II var en retrospektiv kohortstudie och Delarbete III en regional randomiserad studie. Delarbete IV var en experimentell prospektiv studie som inkluderade patienter opererade för avancerad sköldkörtelcancer. Tumörvävnad transplanterades till immunbristiga möss varpå mutationsanalyser och läkemedelstestning genomfördes.

Resultat och slutsatser: Sköldkörtelcancer ökade trefaldigt i Västra Götaland under perioden 2001-2014 och omfattade tumörstadier T1a-T3. Kliniska symtom, oftast en palpabel knöl, var den vanligaste orsaken till tumörupptäckt och incidensökningen berodde inte på ökad bilddiagnostik. Reell ökning av sköldkörtelcancer kunde inte uteslutas. EU-TIRADS minskade frekvensen av cytologisk undersökning med 7%. Vid en direkt jämförelse mellan icke selektiv och selektiv cytologi enligt EU-TIRADS minskade frekvensen av onödig cytologi signifikant utan tecken till att missa cancer. EU-TIRADS är säkert att använda men påverkar frekvensen av cytologi endast måttligt. Tre patienter med skivepitelcancer i sköldkörteln undersöktes varav tumörvävnad från en patient lyckosamt fördes över till och växte på immunbristiga möss. Mutation i bland annat NFEL2L-genen påvisades. Riktad behandling visade hämmad tumörväxt. Studien stödjer hypotesen att skivepitelcancer i sköldkörteln är en undergrupp till anaplastisk sköldkörtelcancer. Molekylärgenetisk testning av anaplastisk tyreoideacancer kan identifiera nya behandlingsmöjligheter.

LIST OF PAPERS

This thesis is based on the following studies, referred to in the text by their Roman numerals.

- I. Dahlberg J, Adok C, Bümming P, Demir A, Hedbäck G, Nilsson B, Nilsson M, Jansson S. Incidence, detection and outcome of differentiated thyroid cancer in Western Sweden. BJS Open 2021 Oct; 5(5): zrab099.
- II. Dahlberg J, Carlqvist J, Larsson E, Elias E, Muth A. Effects of implementation of EU-TIRADS risk stratification in a thyroid cancer programme in Western Sweden – a retrospective cohort study. Submitted.
- III. Dahlberg J, Carlqvist J, Örtoft A, Hammarstedt L, Aula E, Hellström M, Elias E, Muth A. A randomized controlled trial comparing non-selective vs selective cytology using EU-TIRADS the Ultracyt study. *Manuscript.*
- IV. Schoultz E, Dahlberg J, Nilsson L, Karlsson J Carlsson T, Mohammad G, Fagman H, Muth A, Elias E, Sayin V, Nilsson J, Nilsson M. Tumor cell origin and new target therapy options of squamous cell carcinoma in the thyroid. *Manuscript*.

CONTENTS

Abbreviations	iv
Definitions in short	vi
1 Introduction	1
1.1 Types of thyroid cancer	1
1.1.1 Borderline	2
1.1.2 Papillary thyroid carcinoma	2
1.1.3 Follicular thyroid carcinoma	3
1.1.4 Oncocytic thyroid carcinoma	3
1.1.5 Medullary thyroid carcinoma	3
1.1.6 High-grade follicular-derived carcinoma	4
1.1.7 Anaplastic thyroid carcinoma	5
1.2 Thyroid tumor progression	6
1.3 Epidemiology of thyroid cancer	7
1.4 Preoperative diagnosis of thyroid cancer	9
1.4.1 Cervical ultrasound	10
1.4.2 Fine needle aspiration cytology	
1.5 Treatment of differentiated thyroid cancer	23
1.5.1 Surgery	23
1.5.2 Radioactive iodine	24
1.5.3 Iodine refractory DTC	25
1.6 Treatment of anaplastic thyroid cancer	
1.6.1 Chemo-radiotherapy and surgery	
1.6.2 Targeted therapy and surgery	
2 Aim	
3 Patients and Methods	
3.1 Paper I	
3.2 Paper II	
3.3 Paper III	

	3.4	Paper IV	.31
	3.5	Statistics	.32
	3.6	Ethical considerations	.32
4	Re	esults	.33
	4.1	Paper I	.33
	4.2	Paper II	.34
	4.3	Paper III	.34
	4.4	Paper IV	.35
5	Di	scussion	.37
	5.1	The scope of thyroid cancer incidence	.37
	5.2	Thyroid nodule management	.38
	5.3	Advanced thyroid cancer	.40
6	Co	onclusion	.43
7	Fu	ture perspectives	.44
A	ckn	owledgement	.45
D	efer	ences	47

ABBREVIATIONS

ASR	Age-standardized incidence rates per 100 000 person-years
ATA	American Thyroid Association
ATC	Anaplastic thyroid carcinoma
CRF	Case report form
c.i.	Confidence interval
DHGTC	Differentiated high-grade thyroid carcinoma
EAPC	Estimated annual percentage change
EMT	Epithelial-mesenchymal transition
ETA	European Thyroid Association
FA	Follicular adenoma
FNA	Fine needle aspiration cytology
FTC	Follicular thyroid carcinoma
MRI	Magnetic resonance imaging
MTC	Medullary thyroid carcinoma
PDX	Patient-derived xenograft
PTC	Papillary thyroid carcinoma
PDTC	Poorly differentiated thyroid carcinoma
RSS	Risk stratification system

RAI	Radioactive iodine
ROM	Rate of malignancy
SCC	Squamous cell carcinoma
SU	Sahlgrenska University Hospital
TBSRTC	The Bethesda System for Reporting Thyroid Cytology
TC	Thyroid cancer
TERT	Telomerase reverse transcriptase
Tg	Thyroglobulin
TIRADS	Thyroid Imaging Reporting and Data System
TKI	Tyrosine kinase inhibitor
US	Ultrasound

DEFINITIONS IN SHORT

Driver mutations	Mutations that promote cancer development.
Overdiagnosis	Diagnosis of a condition, <i>e.g.</i> cancer, that will never cause symptoms or death.
Thyroid incidentaloma	Previously undetected thyroid nodule discovered on imaging performed due to indication other than thyroid disorder.

1 INTRODUCTION

Thyroid cancer (TC) is the most common endocrine malignancy (1) and comprises a heterogenous group of tumors with large differences in treatment and prognosis. The present thesis addresses several questions related to TC incidence, diagnostic challenges as well as therapeutic options in advanced disease. To set the framework, the introduction will discuss subtypes of TC, introduce diagnostic tools in clinical work-up and briefly cover the challenges of treating advanced TC.

Paper I was a population-based registry and clinical cohort study, investigating the incidence of all TC types in Western Sweden, ranging from subclinical disease to lethal types like anaplastic TC. Paper II and III addresses management of thyroid nodules of which the majority are benign although these study populations also harbor patients with aggressive disease. Finally, Paper IV was an experimental study of patients with advanced TC with poor prognosis in which treatment options are limited. For these reasons the following sections will explain the diagnoses included in this thesis.

Today, diagnosis of TC is primarily based on histopathologic examinations with hematoxylin-eosin (HE) staining and molecular testing is not mandatory in routine diagnostic workup (2).

1.1 TYPES OF THYROID CANCER

TC is commonly categorized into three main types (3): (1) differentiated TC (DTC) which includes papillary TC (PTC), follicular TC (FTC) and onkocytic TC. DTC originate from the follicular epithelium and constitute approximately 80% of all cases of TC in Sweden; (2) medullary TC is a neuroendocrine tumor derived from the parafollicular C-cells in the thyroid; (3) anaplastic TC (ATC) derives from DTC but is undifferentiated.

Except these three types of TC, poorly differentiated thyroid carcinoma (PDTC) and high grade thyroid carcinoma are recognized as distinct tumor entities and categorized under the term "high grade follicular cell derived thyroid cancer". Both tumors are clinically aggressive and may be considered as intermediate forms between DTC and ATC (2).

1.1.1 BORDERLINE

Borderline tumors are not classified as cancer, but they are not unequivocally benign. Clinically and morphologically they may be regarded as intermediate tumor stages between benign and malignant lesions; however, they have the potential to metastasize indicating malignant potential but do so very rarely (2). The 2022 WHO classification of thyroid tumors list the following thyroid borderline entities (4):

- Hyalinizing trabecular tumor
- Follicular tumor of uncertain malignant potential (FT-UMP)
- Well differentiated thyroid tumor of uncertain malignant potential
- Non-invasive follicular tumor with papillary like nuclei (NIFT-P)

NIFT-P was previously regarded malignant and a subtype of PTC. Due to its excellent prognosis it was suggested in 2016 to reclassify NIFT-P as borderline (5) which was accepted in the 2017 WHO classification (6). NIFT-P has a very low risk of recurrence ($\approx 0.5\%$) and the purpose of reclassification was to reduce overtreatment (5). As a consequence surgical treatment of this condition has been de-escalated and tumor removal by hemi-thyroidectomy is considered sufficient (7). Morphologically, NIFT-P is resembling a follicular adenoma except it has nuclear features typical of PTC comprising nuclear pseudoinclusions, grooves and enlargement (5).

FT-UMP tumors rarely recur or metastasize. An exception is FT-UMP with *Telomerase reverse transcriptase* (*TERT*) promoter mutation, which has been associated with a highly malignant phenotype (8). That this mutation indeed is pathogenic is indicated by the fact that FT-UMP without *TERT* promoter mutation showed no signs of metastases or recurrence.

1.1.2 PAPILLARY THYROID CARCINOMA

Papillary thyroid carcinoma is the most common type of TC, accounting for approximately 70-75% of all TC cases registered in Sweden (9, 10). PTC is derived from follicular epithelial cells and is diagnosed by characteristic nuclear morphology such as enlargement, crowding, grooves and the pathognomonic ground glass nuclei.

Subclassification of PTC has become more important and should be considered in all stages of PTC when stratifying for risk of recurrence or persistent disease (11, 12). Subtypes associated with a poorer prognosis are tall cell, columnar cell, Hobnail and diffuse sclerosing PTC (2). Key molecular profiles of these tumors are $BRAF^{V600E}$ mutation and *TERT* promoter mutation. PTC regularly spread to regional lymph nodes whereas distant metastases do not occur until advanced stage.

1.1.3 FOLLICULAR THYROID CARCINOMA

Follicular thyroid carcinoma is the second most common type of TC, accounting for approximately 10% of patients (10). Like PTC, FTC also derives from follicular cells, but the tumor lacks nuclear morphologic changes typical of PTC and it also shows signs of invasiveness. Depending on the type and extent of invasion, FTC is divided into (1) minimally invasive FTC (miFTC) in which the tumor infiltrates and penetrates the capsule surrounding the tumor; (2) angio-invasive FTC invades blood vessels within or outside the capsule; and (3) widely invasive FTC (wiFTC) that shows extensive capsular infiltration and vascular invasion. Extrathyroidal extension and distant metastases, *e.g.* to the lung and skeleton are frequent.

1.1.4 ONCOCYTIC THYROID CARCINOMA

Oncocytic thyroid carcinoma (earlier referred to as "Hürthle cell" but the term is discouraged in the 2022 WHO classification) was previously a subtype of FTC but since the 2017 WHO classification it is recognized as a distinct TC type due to unique genomic alterations in the mitochondrial DNA (13) or in the related GRIM19 (NDUFA13) gene (14). However, in clinical practice diagnosis is not made by genetic testing but rather by histology. If the cells in the tumor show more than 75% oncocytic differentiation it may be classified as oncocytic cancer (2). In addition, the tumor must have the same type of signs of invasiveness, *i.e.* capsular invasion or vascular invasion or both, as FTC.

1.1.5 MEDULLARY THYROID CARCINOMA

Medullary thyroid carcinoma (MTC) is a neuroendocrine tumor that derives from parafollicular C-cells. C-cells produce the hormone calcitonin which may serve as a tumor marker both pre- and postoperatively. It is also possible to diagnose MTC by immuno-histochemistry (IHC) analysis of calcitonin. Since it is a neuroendocrine tumor, it may also stain positive for chromogranin A and synaptofysin which may be useful in dedifferentiated tumors where the expression of calcitonin is lower.

Germline *RET*-mutations are found in virtually all hereditary MTCs and somatic *RET*-mutations are found in approximately 50% of sporadic MTCs (15-17).

1.1.6 HIGH-GRADE FOLLICULAR-DERIVED CARCINOMA

Two separate entities of high-grade follicular-derived carcinoma are listed in the 2022 WHO classification: differentiated high-grade thyroid carcinoma (DHGTC) and poorly differentiated thyroid carcinoma (PDTC). Both tumor types are rare, usually occurring in patients >50 years of age, develop as a rapidly growing mass in the neck and are often large at first presentation. Lymph node metastases are common, especially in DHGTC which more often are associated with *BRAF*-mutations (18). Prognostically both PDTC and DHGTC have long-term survival intermediate of DTC and ATC: 10-year disease-specific of 60% and 56% respectively (18).

1.1.6.1 DIFFERENTIATED HIGH-GRADE THYROID CARCINOMA

DHGTC is an invasive tumor that is well-differentiated due to its growth pattern and, in most cases, displays features that are characteristic of PTC or more seldom a follicular growth pattern (*i.e.* derived from FTC). The diagnosis is confirmed if necrosis is present and/or mitotic activity is elevated. DHGTC has a worse prognosis than DTC but better than undifferentiated TC (2).

1.1.6.2 POORLY DIFFERENTIATED THYROID CARCINOMA

PDTC is derived from DTC but morphologically and clinically it is positioned between DTC and ATC. PDTC is often difficult to diagnose and categorize and is even less common than ATC. The diagnostic criteria for this tumor are established by the Turin consensus criteria (19) and the tumor is characterized by invasiveness in combination with one of three patterns of growth: solid, trabecular or insular. Furthermore, the tumor has either necrosis, elevated mitotic activity or convoluted nuclei. The MSKCC (Memorial Sloan-Kettering Cancer Center) criteria for diagnosing PDTC has also been proposed, the main difference is that diagnosis is based on mitosis and necrosis rather than growth pattern (20).

1.1.6.3 GUIDELINE ASPECTS OF PDTC

According to Swedish national guidelines, treatment recommendations for PDTC follow those of DTC but the diagnosis and treatment is sparsely described (7). Neither American thyroid association (ATA) nor European thyroid association (ETA) provide guidelines specifically for PDTC. A review from 2022 stated that it is difficult to draw conclusions about uniform recommendations although surgery should be performed if feasible, radioactive iodine (RAI) might have some but usually limited effect and external beam radiation may be considered (21). The forthcoming revised Swedish national guidelines will however be updated on PDTC and contain recommendations about molecular testing and targeted therapy.

1.1.7 ANAPLASTIC THYROID CARCINOMA

ATC is a rare and highly malignant disease that affects mainly elderly patients. In Sweden, approximately 15-20 cases of ATC are diagnosed yearly and the incidence has been stable (10). The true incidence is possibly slightly higher due to missed reporting because ATC might not be correctly diagnosed with fine needle aspiration cytology (FNA), and the patients do not always undergo thyroid surgery. ATC is one of the most aggressive types of human cancer and most patients (> 90%) die within 12 months from diagnosis (22). The tumor arises from DTC by tumor progression, and there is a complete or close to complete loss of differentiation which is the reason why ATC sometimes is also referred to as undifferentiated TC. Upon histopathologic examination, a varying degree of mitotic activity is seen as well as invasive growth, necrosis and nuclear pleomorphism (23). A coexisting DTC may also be seen, which often is of an aggressive subtype (24). Immunohistochemistry (IHC) is usually negative for thyroglobulin (Tg) and TTF-1/NKX2-1 (positive in DTC) but is positive for PAX8 in up to 70% (25) (PAX8 is a transcription factor and is important in cell-cycle process and survival of differentiated thyroid epithelial cells (26)). A number of histological subtypes of ATC are described, including rhabdoid, spindle cell, giant cell and squamous cell carcinoma (SCC) (23).

Thyroid SCC was previously classified as unique entity but interestingly recognized in the latest WHO classification as a subtype of ATC (4). Thyroid SCC, its origin and tumor progression was investigated in Paper IV.

ATC may be diagnosed by FNA in most cases (>60%) (27). However, if ATC is clinically suspected, core needle biopsy is recommended (28). ATCs that are derived from PTC are often *BRAF* mutated and initial work-up should include analysis of *BRAF* mutation by IHC and next-generation sequencing (28).

The identification of driver mutations leading to targeted therapy of ATC has led to a paradigm shift and a bit of hope for patients with this diagnosis (22). The main signaling pathways are JAK-STAT, MAPK and PI3K/AKT/MTOR and include targets such as RET, EGFR and KIT (29). Tumor progression from DTC to ATC may be described as a multistep process with an accumulation of genetic changes (30). Frequently, a DTC component of an aggressive subtype, for example tall cell PTC, is observed adjacent to the ATC tumor. The theory of progression from DTC to ATC is further supported by the observation that mutations like *BRAF* and *RAS* are common in both tumor types and *p53* mutation is common in ATC but not DTC (31).

1.2 THYROID TUMOR PROGRESSION

As already mentioned, there is ample evidence both histologically and genetically of transition of one TC type to another more malignant type. The mutational burden of DTC is usually very low (32) and the somatic mutations found in PTC are nearly always mutually exclusive (33), *e.g.* only one pathogenic driver mutation is present in DTC. In FTC the most common genetic alterations are point mutations in *RAS* and rearrangements in PAX8-PPAR γ (34, 35). The most common mutations in PTC are *BRAF*^{V600E}, *RAS* and rearrangements in *RET/PTC* (33).

The progression of DTC to more aggressive types of TC like PDTC and ATC, is a stepwise process involving an increased number of pathogenic mutations. As an example, *TERT* promoter mutations increase in frequency from 9% in PTC, 40% in PDTC to 73% in ATC (33). Another observation is that when present, *TERT* promoter mutations are subclonal in PTC, but clonal in PDTC and ATC suggesting that the *TERT* promoter mutation is highly oncogenic in the tumor evolution (36). Likewise, the tumor-suppressor gene TP53 is never

mutated in DTC (37) but is increasingly mutated in PDTC (8%) and in ATC (73%) (36).

Epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT) is a process in which carcinoma cells transform to a mesenchymal phenotype, allowing tumor cells to migrate and metastasize. In the multi-step model of TC progression, tumor stem cells supposedly fueling tumor growth are suggested to be generated through both genetic mutations and EMT (38). EMT entails changes promoting invasiveness and metastasizing features by upregulation of the Snail family of transcriptions factors (39, 40). This leads to downregulation of CDH1/E-cadherin which in normal epithelial cells is important for cell-cell adhesion and maintained epithelial cohesiveness and integrity. Thus, loss of CDH1-based adhesion renders the cancer cells more prone to leave its primary site and metastasize (41). CDH2/N-cadherin, another classical cadherin that is normally expressed in neuronal and mesenchymal tissues in embryos, is often upregulated during EMT. EMT biomarkers were analyzed in the patient-derived xenograft (PDX) tumor investigated in Paper IV.

Dedifferentiation comprising diminished expression of thyroid-specific genes and impaired thyroid function may be considered as another facet of TC tumor progression. For example, ATC has lost all thyroid biomarkers that designate the normal thyroid phenotype. Another example is *BRAF* mutated PTCs. They are often dedifferentiated of which one effect is the loss of NIS expression, making these tumors RAI resistant (42). This is a clinical issue of concern and further discussed in section <u>1.5.3 Iodine refractory DTC</u>.

1.3 EPIDEMIOLOGY OF THYROID CANCER

TC incidence has increased worldwide for decades (43, 44). According to most studies this observation can mainly be attributed to more frequent detection of early stages of papillary thyroid carcinoma (PTC) of which the majority are unlikely to be of clinical importance (45), by some authors referred to as overdiagnosis (46, 47). The existence of a reservoir of subclinical TC was demonstrated as early as 1985 by Harach *et al.* in a still today frequently cited article (48). Although this study might not adhere to contemporary scientific standards, the notion of PTC as an indolent condition that in many cases will never cause symptoms has been supported by more recent publications (49, 50).

Increased access to health care in general (51, 52) and more specifically the use of diagnostic procedures such as ultrasound (US) of the neck has been considered to be a major contributing factor to increased detection (53). An outstanding example comes from South Korea where the incidence of TC rose dramatically when US screening of the neck of women also undergoing breast cancer screening was introduced (54) and it was estimated that 90% of all women in South Korea diagnosed with TC between 2008 and 2012 were "overdiagnosed" (55). The increased incidence was attributed mainly to PTC in patients lacking symptoms of TC and without observed effect on TC specific mortality rates, and it was concluded that the regimen of TC screening needed careful evaluation (56). Furthermore, there has been an ongoing debate and an increasing awareness of overdiagnosis and perhaps as a result of this, international guidelines have been updated with improved risk stratification, resulting in a plateau effect of TC incidence worldwide (57).

However, although most authors attribute increased incidence of TC worldwide to increased detection of subclinical disease or over-diagnosis of TC, other reports have been published arguing that increased detection cannot fully explain increased incidence (58, 59). The conceptualization of Paper I came from the observation that TC incidence was rising also in Sweden, but the explanations given by most authors were not obviously applicable to Swedish or regional conditions. In Sweden the mainstay of health care is provided by public third-party payer care givers, with relatively uniform access to care across geographic regions and eco-sociologic classes. There has been no organized screening of TC in Sweden and clinicians have been reluctant to introduce neck US. Retrospectively, this has been correct for obvious reasons, although conservative traditions have probably been the main reason. Thus, the pronounced increase of TC observed in Sweden, see Figure 1 (60), and the Nordic countries cannot easily be explained by increased detection as described by authors mainly from the USA, South Korea and some central European countries.

Due to the accelerated TC diagnosis, it is conceivable that a true increase of less frequent but potentially dangerous cancers might be concealed by the great number of small and indolent thyroid tumors being detected. This was the fundamental incitement of conducting the population-based study of Paper I, correlating TC incidence to tumor type, stage and mode of detection.



Figure 1 Age standardized rate (world) per 100 000. Incidence (solid lines) and mortality (dashed lines) for women (purple) and men (blue) in Sweden 1980 – 2021. Lines are smoothed using the LOESS regression algorithm (bandwidth 0.1). Obtained by nordcan.iarc.fr/en.

1.4 PREOPERATIVE DIAGNOSIS OF THYROID CANCER

The most common symptom leading to the diagnosis of TC is a palpable nodule in the neck. Incidental imaging findings ("thyroid incidentalomas", meaning thyroid nodules detected by imaging with indication other than thyroid disorders) are an increasing reason for assessing thyroid nodules for potential TC. In addition to this, a vast number of patients are referred to US of the neck due to symptoms that might or might not, be related to goiter such as discomfort in the neck or problems swallowing.

Starting in 2015, the Swedish government introduced a stepwise standardized care bundle (SCB) for different cancer diagnoses and for TC it was launched in April 2017 (61). The purpose was to ensure a uniform and rapid workup

process based on clinical symptoms that could indicate cancer. A "filter function" consisting of cervical US and FNA was established to estimate the initial risk of TC and guide further pre-operative examinations and/or lead-time of treatment (mostly surgery) if indicated. The patients included in Paper II are recruited solely from this "filter function" at SU.

1.4.1 CERVICAL ULTRASOUND

US is the primary radiologic modality for assessing thyroid nodules with respect to TC (62) and using high frequency scanner it is possible to detect thyroid nodules 2-3 mm and larger (63). Ultrasound is nowadays easily accessible, cheap, inflicts no pain on the patient, emits no ionizing radiation and can be used by radiologists with special interest in thyroid US and by clinicians with less experience. Disadvantages frequently mentioned refer to inter- and even intra-observer variability (64, 65). The development of US risk stratification systems (RSS) for TC is one way of addressing this issue.

1.4.1.1 ULTRASOUND RISK STRATIFICATION SYSTEMS

Ultrasonographic features of various types of thyroid nodules have been described since at least the 1980's (66, 67). Thyroid nodules may be divided into cystic, benign, follicular or malignant lesions. Specific US features of thyroid lesions such as microcalcifications, irregular borders and markedly hypoechoic appearance were proposed to be associated with an increased risk of TC and it was suggested that FNA should be based on the findings of the US examination (68, 69). Although entirely cystic or spongiform nodules strongly suggest benign lesions, no single characteristic has been shown to be predictive of TC which is why multiple ultrasonographic features must be considered (70).

In 2009, Horvath et al. published the first US RSS, named Thyroid Imaging Report and Data System (TIRADS) (71) inspired by BI-RADS (72) which was a RSS for evaluating cancer risk of nodules in the breast. Altogether almost 2000 nodules were included for evaluation. The underlying rationale for developing an RSS was to reduce the number of unnecessary FNA in an era of increased detection of thyroid nodules where most are benign (71). TIRADS was the first attempt to create an RSS that provided a clinical guide on how to manage thyroid nodules: FNA or follow the patient by US. It was

based on 10 different patterns, providing estimates of the TC risk correlated to each TIRADS category.

Furthermore, RSS serve as a checklist which in turn results in a more uniform US report, closer attention being paid to suspicious characteristics and less user dependent (73). Most RSSs provide recommendations to facilitate uniform management and minimize unnecessary procedures such as FNA (74).

Although the original TIRADS was accurate in terms of sensitivity and specificity, by many it was considered too complicated to implement in everyday clinical practice. Up to twenty different RSSs have been developed (75) and today there is no international consensus on which RSS to use or which is superior (76). Despite the existence of numerous RSSs, it may be pointed out that the differences are relatively small; RSSs are based on similar US features and thus it would theoretically be possible to agree on one common RSS (75). It is also important to recognize that most US RSSs are compromising between simplicity on one hand and specificity/sensitivity on the other hand, making it mainly a "rule-out" tool rather than "rule-in".

Before 2017 and the introduction of TIRADS in Western Sweden, US guided FNA had gradually replaced palpation guided FNA. However, no RSS was used to either omit FNA, perform FNA or to give recommendations on follow-up. With the possibility to "rule out" TC by US RSS, there was a concern among clinicians (*i.e.* surgeons at Sahlgrenska University Hospital) on the potential risk of missing TC by dismissing a thyroid nodule as benign and not perform FNA. In paper II and III we addressed these issues, both in terms of missed TC and the frequency of correctly omitted FNA, *i.e.* evaluating the effect and potential benefit of using US RSS. As further background it is relevant to recapitulate the currently used EU-TIRADS in some detail.

1.4.1.2 EU-TIRADS

When planning for the implementation of US RSS in Western Sweden in 2017, it was decided to use K-TIRADS (77). The decision to change US RSS to EU-TIRADS (78) after its publication was merely an attempt to adapt to an RSS that neighboring countries would use rather than believing that EU-TIRADS is superior to K-TIRADS. Like the original TIRADS, EU-TIRADS is a pattern-based system although fewer US characteristics are weighted, making EU-TIRADS simpler to use. EU-TIRADS provides recommendations on further management of each nodule, *i.e.* FNA, follow-up or no follow-up, based on EU-TIRADS score and lesion size.

EU-TIRADS 1 indicates that there is no sonographically identifiable lesion within the thyroid (Figure 2), which is not necessarily equivalent to a "normal" thyroid. For example, echo-structural changes without focal lesions are common after Hashimoto thyroiditis and small (<5 mm) lesions might not be clinically meaningful to describe.



Figure 2. EU-TIRADS 1. Image of the author's right thyroid lobe, marked by surrounding green dotted line. Anterior to the thyroid is the strap muscle which is more hypoechoic compared to the thyroid. The carotid artery (CA) is completely anechoic. The trachea is seen to the right (T). No nodules are detected in the thyroid.

EU-TIRADS 2 is a non-solid lesion presenting as either a cyst (Figure 3) or what is referred to as spongiform lesion. A cyst is completely anechoic, contains only fluid and hence there is no doppler signal. The risk of malignancy is close to 0% and the only indication for FNA is to empty the cyst of fluid to relieve local symptoms. If the cyst contains solid parts, it should be referred to a higher EU-TIRADS classification that corresponds to the solid part. A spongelike nodule mainly contains fluid, but it is not possible to reduce the volume by draining the fluid since the fluid is separated by multiple septa. FNA is not indicated.



Figure 3. EU-TIRADS 2. Cystic lesion marked by surrounding dashed green line. Normal thyroid parenchyma is seen to the left (cranial of the cyst).

EU-TIRADS 3 is a solid nodule within the thyroid that is either iso- or hyperechoic when compared to the surrounding normal thyroid. Furthermore, no other signs of malignancy should be present (Figure 4). Partially cystic nodules may also be labeled in the EU-TIRADS 3 category. Generally speaking, the more cystic and less solid the nodule is, the lower the risk of malignancy (75). Smooth margins are present and sometimes a thin halo is seen. EU-TIRADS 3 are low-risk and according to accompanying recommendations, FNA should be performed only for lesions >2 cm.



Figure 4. EU-TIRADS 3. Solid isoechoic lesion with smooth margins. A thin hypoechoic margin is surrounding the nodule, commonly referred to as a halo (white arrows).

EU-TIRADS 4 is different from EU-TIRADS 3 in echogenicity: a category 4 lesion is mildly hypoechoic with smooth margins and no other "worrisome" features (see next paragraph for description of "worrisome" features) (Figure 5). EU-TIRADS 4 is considered an intermediate-risk for cancer and FNA is indicated for lesions > 1.5 cm.

EU-TIRADS 5 is considered high-risk and has at least one of the following lesion features: taller than wide, irregular margins, micro-calcifications and/or being markedly hypoechoic. FNA is recommended for all lesions >1 cm and leaves an option of either follow-up or FNA for lesions ≤ 1 cm (78). However, both ATA and ETA advise against FNA for intrathyroidal lesions ≤ 1 cm with no signs of extrathyroidal growth or suspicious lymph node metastases (11, 75).



Figure 5. EU-TIRADS 4. Mildly hypoechoic with smooth margins and no other suspicious features. As indicated by the calipers the nodule measures 24x21 mm. A thin halo is also seen, at least anterior of the nodule. T – trachea.

The risk of TC is approximately 50% for each feature and increases with the number of encountered features designating a possible malignancy (78). A malignant tumor is generally more solid compared to a benign one and absorbs more energy from the ultrasound, resulting in a hypoechoic image. Markedly hypoechoic (Figure 6) means the nodule is less echogenic compared to strap muscles. Hypoechogenicity is associated with an increased risk of TC (79) although it has been shown to have the lowest sensitivity for TC of all suspicious features (80). In a study by Lee et al, nodules with moderate to marked hypo-echogenicity had a significantly higher frequency of TC compared to mildly hypoechoic (81). Heterogenous nodules are common and in these cases, the dominant echogenicity determines the degree of echogenicity (75).



Figure 6. EU-TIRADS 5. Markedly hypoechoic in the center of a left sided nodule (white arrow). Irregular margin at the anterior part of the nodule. T – trachea, I - isthmus.

The margins of the nodule may be irregular, have microlobulations, spiculations or ill-defined margins (Figure 7). The interpretation of this feature may be that the tumor is invasive, growing outside the capsule.



Figure 7. EU-TIRADS 5. Irregular margins (left image) marked by white arrow. Illdefined margins (right): white arrow pointing at posterior part of ill-defined margins although margins are ill-defined all around (right image).

The term "taller than wide" is used when the anteroposterior measure is larger than the other directions, see Figure 8. There is no threshold for the ratio between "tall" and "wide".



Figure 8. EU-TIRADS 5. Hypoechoic nodule indicated by green dots, "taller than wide" and therefore classified as high-risk. The radiologist has indicated by calipers "tall" -1.24 cm and "wide" -0.91 cm. The radiologist also indicated T5 - EU-TIRADS 5.

Calcifications are usually divided into macro- and microcalcifications and may be observed in both benign and malignant thyroid nodules (81). Generally speaking, calcifications, both macro and micro, are associated with an increased risk of malignancy (75). However, according to EU-TIRADS, microcalcifications are the only type of calcifications that affect classification, making the lesion high-risk and therefore EU-TIRADS 5 (78). Microcalcifications show no posterior shadowing and are defined as punctate hyperechoic foci ≤ 1 mm in size and are an independent ultrasonographic feature associated with an increased risk of TC (82, 83). Microcalcifications have been thought to represent psammoma bodies which in turn strongly suggests PTC (84). Although this may be true to some extent, microcalcifications have in different studies been shown to have highly variable positive predictive value of 17 - 78% (82, 83, 85, 86).



Figure 9. EU-TIRADS 5. Image of a left thyroid lobe with microcalcifications (white arrow). It could also be argued that this nodule has irregular and ill-defined margins as well as microlobulations.

1.4.2 FINE NEEDLE ASPIRATION CYTOLOGY

FNA is not the primary focus in any of the Papers included. Nevertheless, FNA is a crucial tool when discussing preoperative workup, a centerpiece of Papers II and III, which is why this section is relatively extensive.

1.4.2.1 HISTORICAL BACKGROUND

Cytology as a means of diagnosing cancer has been in clinical practice in Sweden since the 1950's. Sixten Franzén was a pioneer in prostate and bone marrow cytology and this work was later developed by Torsten Löwhagen in preoperative diagnostics on breast and thyroid (87-90). In the early 1980's, Bertil Hamberger and colleagues showed that thyroid surgery volumes decreased when FNA was introduced and at the same time the frequency of TC doubled (91). Today, FNA is fundamental in the assessment of thyroid nodules and according to Swedish guidelines, US guided FNA is recommended (7). Although the introduction of FNA analysis improved the management of thyroid nodules, concerns have been raised regarding the quality of FNA in Sweden. In 2008, data from local and Swedish national quality registers showed that almost 20% of all TC cases had preoperative false benign FNA (92). Yet another problem at this time was that the cytologist was not encouraged to decide upon a definitive diagnosis which negatively affected the clinicians' ability to interpret the FNA report.

1.4.2.2 CLASSIFICATION SYSTEMS

With the intent to provide reproducible reports that are sufficient for the clinicians to apply in the clinical decision making, several different systems for reporting thyroid cytology have been suggested. In Sweden the Bethesda System for Reporting Thyroid Cytology (TBSRTC) (93, 94) is recommended and in Western Sweden it was gradually introduced from 2012 and completely implemented by 2013. Classification systems usually have three levels or categories for estimating TC risk: benign, follicular neoplasia and malignancy (e.g. Bethesda II, IV and VI). Apart from these three, there are usually additional categories to indicate either a non-diagnostic test (e.g. Bethesda I) or varying degree of uncertainty (e.g. Bethesda III or V). The Bethesda system thus provides an estimated risk of malignancy for each category (updated in 2017) and recommendations for action, *i.e.* follow-up, no follow-up or surgery. However, guidelines usually conclude that FNA alone is not sufficient to guide clinical decision making in the event of cytologically indeterminate results (11, 95). For example, family history, previous irradiation, co-morbidity and US features should also be considered (94).

1.4.2.3 FNA LIMITATIONS

FNA cannot distinguish follicular adenoma (FA) from follicular carcinoma because the diagnosis of the latter is based on tumor growth related to the capsule, as discussed in section <u>1.1.3 Follicular thyroid carcinoma</u>. FNA shows follicular neoplasia in both FA and FTC and typically yields Bethesda IV. The estimated risk of TC for Bethesda IV is 10-40% (96) and the only definite diagnosis is achieved by histopathologic evaluation of the entire tumor. Furthermore, the definite diagnoses are not restricted to FA or FTC. For example, a follicular variant of PTC may also be classified as Bethesda IV. The majority of patients undergoing diagnostic surgical procedures, most commonly hemithyroidectomy, will end up going through an unnecessary operation. Furthermore, in cases of malignant histopathology, completion surgery might be warranted which means that the initial surgical procedure was incorrect irrespective of diagnostic outcome. A recent study from Sweden showed that up to 15% of patients diagnosed with TC after undergoing surgery

with less than total thyroidectomy, had completion surgery due to inadequate preoperative FNA (97). Attempts have been made to come closer to a definite diagnosis with cytologic samples in cases of follicular neoplasia. In a retrospective study from the Karolinska Institute, FNA from FTC had significantly higher Ki-67 index compared to FA. The authors concluded that Ki-67 index may be helpful in predicting FTC but there is a substantial overlap (98).

Nodules yielding Bethesda IV are usually considered for diagnostic surgery in Sweden (7), as is the recommendation by TBSRTC (94). Nodules yielding Bethesda I or III usually undergo repeat US and FNA and the outcome of repeat examination at Sahlgrenska University Hospital (SU) was briefly described in Paper II and III. According to the TBSRTC (94), the risk of TC is 5-10% and 6-18% for Bethesda I and III respectively which is not negligible, and repeat FNA is recommended. However, in a retrospective study from Canada in 2019, only 40% of nodules with Bethesda I or III came to a conclusive diagnosis after repeat FNA (99), making this approach somewhat limited. ATA suggests that US features should be weighed into risk assessment and diagnostic hemithyroidectomy is a valid option (11). Surgery is however costly and is also associated with adverse events (100, 101). Others have found that US RSS is of limited additional value in clinical decision making when facing cytologically indeterminate nodules (102). For this reason, in cases of Bethesda III and also Bethesda IV, molecular testing may be an alternative (94) although presently not in routine use in Sweden.

1.4.2.4 FNA MOLECULAR ANALYSIS

As discussed in the previous section, FNA gives accurate information to guide further clinical management in most cases. However, in up to 30%, cytology is indeterminate which may be challenging and some argue that this prompts for molecular analysis (96). In cases of indeterminate FNA (Bethesda III and IV) it is potentially possible to either diagnose (rule in) or alternatively rule out TC using molecular profiling from FNA samples.

Molecular approaches may either be directed to nuclear or mitochondrial DNA, patterns of RNA expression or the detection of under- or overexpressed proteins. $BRAF^{V600E}$ mutation, RET/PTC rearrangement and RAS mutations are examples of some of the most common mutations in TC (33). Not all mutations drive tumor to malignant transformation and some mutations exist

in both benign and malignant tumors. A nodule with a $BRAF^{V600E}$ mutation is most likely malignant and prompts for surgery while a mutation in RAS has a 40-60% risk of TC (96), only marginally changing the risk assessment compared to the initial Bethesda III or IV. In fact, two studies by Noureldine et al., showed that molecular testing had no significant effect on pre-operative decision-making (103, 104). However, a more recent but retrospective publication using Thyroseq[®] v2 (commercial kit analyzing 14 TC related DNA mutations and 42 fusions from RNA (105)) concluded that molecular testing of nodules with Bethesda III (80% of included nodules) or IV (20%) was helpful and surgery was adequately avoided in close to half of the cases (106). Today, the most widely used commercial systems used for thyroid molecular testing are Afirma[®] (RNA based) and Thyroseq[®] v3 (compared to previous version of Thyroseq[®], v3 is extended to include more genes). In a randomized controlled trial comparing the two panels, 346 patients with 372 nodules were included in two arms. No significant difference in performance was found between Afirma[®] and Thyroseq[®] v3 and like the study by Steinmetz et al. (106), approximately half of the patients avoided a diagnostic surgical procedure (107).

The cost-effectiveness of molecular testing has been studied widely but with conflicting results (108-114). The fact that different studies reach different conclusions largely depends on differences in included parameters that affect the overall costs in the analyses. Not only is the price of the test itself of importance. Another factor to consider is the frequency of malignancy in the group that is tested. The higher the frequency the more expensive routine testing of indeterminate nodules will be since more patients will undergo both testing and surgery. Compared to molecular testing performed by commercial companies, FNA is less expensive, and it might be more cost-effective to improve the quality of FNA.

1.4.2.5 FNA QUALITY DIFFERENCES

The quality of FNA in clinical routine has been debated (115). In 2014, some 50% of non-follicular TC (most are PTCs) with stage \geq T1b (mostly tumors >1 cm) had preoperative FNA showing malignancy (Bethesda VI) or suspicious for malignancy (Bethesda V) (Figure 10). Corresponding figures in Western Sweden were slightly lower. In Sweden, the only region that contrasted was Stockholm-Gotland where corresponding figures are constantly 80% or higher

during the same period (data not shown but available at <u>https://statistik.incanet.se/Tyreoidea/</u>).

For Western Sweden, the figures have gradually improved from 2014 to 2022 (2022 is presently the latest available year of diagnosis) for reasons that not yet have been explored. However, it is probably safe to say that the quality of FNA depends on experience, and that it is important for the clinician "to know" their own cytologist (92).



Figure 10. Frequency (y-axis) of non-follicular thyroid cancer stage \geq T1b with preoperative FNA category Bethesda V or VI. Year of diagnosis 2014 – 2022 (x-axis). Green dots/line Western Sweden, yellow dots/line Sweden. Figure obtained from Regionalt Cancercentrum (https://statistik.incanet.se/Tyreoidea/).
1.5 TREATMENT OF DIFFERENTIATED THYROID CANCER

1.5.1 SURGERY

The goal of the surgical treatment of DTC is to entirely remove the primary tumor and regional lymph node metastases if present with as low morbidity as possible. However, surgical goals, strategies, techniques and technical adjuncts are constantly evolving. The overall trend over the last 20 years has been to de-escalate surgery, in favor of less extensive surgical procedures. Even active surveillance omitting primary surgery has been introduced as an option in select cases (116). Consider for instance local guidelines at SU in 2005, recommending total thyroidectomy and bilateral central lymph node dissection even for PTC <1 cm without clinically suspicion of lymph node metastases. In 2012 the first Swedish national guideline for treatment of TC was published. The recommendation for PTC >1 cm was total thyroidectomy and prophylactic central lymph node dissection. At this time, ATA also recommended total thyroidectomy for PTC >1cm (117), based on large studies showing that PTC patients with primary tumor between 1 and 4 cm treated with total thyroidectomy compared to hemithyroidectomy had a slightly decreased risk of recurrence (118, 119). These studies did not consider more aggressive subtypes of DTC such as tall cell, hobnail or columnar cell type. With the recognition that DTC is a heterogenous type of cancer, the treatment guidelines have changed to a more individualized recommendation that considers more than just tumor type, size and metastatic spread. According to the latest ATA guideline from 2015, the recommendation changed to opt for hemithyroidectomy for DTC <4 cm in the absence of risk factors (11). Swedish national guidelines have not yet fully adapted to the ATA guidelines and according to the latest version from 2021, total thyroidectomy is still recommended for PTC between 1 and 4 cm. However, prophylactic central lymph node dissection was no longer recommended after revision in 2017 despite that lymph node metastases in the central compartment are common in clinically node-negative patients (120). Prophylactic lymph node dissection in these patients has not been shown to be superior in terms of biochemical response, local recurrence or survival (121-123). At present, no randomized studies have been performed and there are no ongoing randomized controlled trials registered at ClinicalTrials.gov exploring the potential benefits of prophylactic central neck lymph node dissection, as it is not feasible due to too many patients needed to be included.

1.5.2 RADIOACTIVE IODINE

Thyroid follicular cells have a unique ability of concentrating and organification of iodide. Iodide is transported into the cell by the sodiumiodide symporter (NIS), it binds to thyroglobulin and is used in the synthesis of thyroid hormones: triiodothyronine and thyroxin. This can be utilized for both therapeutic and diagnostic purposes by administration of RAI, mostly the isotope ¹³¹I (diagnostic and therapeutic) but also ¹²³I (diagnostic). Although the definitions of the therapeutic goals of RAI may be a source of frustration and conflict (12), the three main purposes of RAI treatment may be divided into: (1) ablation of remnant benign thyroid tissue, (2) adjuvant treatment of regional lymph node metastases and, (3) treatment of distant metastases.

In Sweden, patients with low-risk DTC (according to ATA risk-evaluation) have been treated with RAI ablation with the purpose of facilitating follow-up and eventually terminate active tumor surveillance (7). ETA states that the benefit of RAI in low-risk DTC patients is a matter of controversy and they recommend that the RAI should be based on individual risk factors such as elevated postoperative levels of serum thyroglobulin (Tg) or the presence of structural disease identified by US (124). The ESTIMABL 2 study, a randomized controlled trial, compared patients with low-risk DTC, treated with either thyroidectomy alone in one arm or total thyroidectomy + RAI 1.1 GBq in the other arm. There was no difference in rate of recurrence or persistent disease between the two groups after three years of follow-up (125). Although three years of follow-up may seem short for drawing definite conclusions on outcome, it may be pointed out that most of these patients would have a follow-up time of two years according to Swedish guidelines. A British study that has not yet been published, the IoN trial (NCT01398085), also questions the need of RAI in low risk DTC and includes also larger tumors.

RAI treatment of intermediate-risk patients is also somewhat controversial but for different reasons. Theoretically, these patients are more likely to benefit from RAI therapy since the risk of recurrence by definition is higher compared to low-risk patients. However, these tumors often display aggressive histology and as such, they generally have poor iodine uptake due to impaired expression of NIS (12). In such a situation one may argue either that (1) these tumors often have poor iodine uptake and hence a limited activity of 1.1 GBq should be administered due to lower toxicity, or (2) since these tumors have such poor uptake it is necessary to give a higher activity, *i.e.* 3,7 GBq. In the forthcoming Swedish guidelines on TC, there was no consensus on which is the ideal activity of RAI for these patients.

1.5.3 IODINE REFRACTORY DTC

RAI refractory DTC refers to tumors that lack the ability to concentrate and retain iodide but there is no universally accepted definition (126). However, the following clinical situations may predict the likelihood of RAI refractory (RAI non-avid) tumors: (1) patients who previously had RAI uptake and on post treatment scans have no uptake in lesions that previously showed uptake. These patients usually have large metastatic burdens, and it can be speculated that well differentiated clones of TC cells were effectively treated but more poorly differentiated clones survived. (2) a mixed uptake, *i.e.* some lesions have uptake whereas some do not, and in these cases, progress is likely to occur in lesions without RAI uptake. (3) metastatic TC lesions resistant to iodine at the time of diagnosis and when the patient is treated with RAI for the first time. These patients do not benefit from RAI and should be considered RAI refractory. Finally, a fourth situation may be mentioned: if the thyroid is not resectable, RAI treatment is not possible, and the tumor should be regarded as RAI refractory whether this is physiologically true or not (127). Furthermore, aggressive histologic types and molecular profiles such as BRAF or TERT promoter mutations also predict RAI resistance (128-131).

Systemic targeted drug treatment should be considered if the patient is assessed RAI resistance, harbors a significant tumor burden and progressive disease is observed. Before the era of tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKI), no active oncologic treatment for patients with RAI refractory DTC was available (3) and at the start of the work with this thesis, we wanted to understand more about these patients with aggressive types of TC (relapsing DTC, PDTC and ATC). The idea was to develop tumor platforms based on *in vitro* tumor tissue models and PDX models to allow experimental studies, which generated data presented in Paper IV.

First line treatment for patients with progressive or symptomatic RAI refractory DTC are lenvatinib or sorafenib (7). Although not tested prospectively in direct comparison, the SELECT trial showed that lenvatinib had a median progression free survival of 18 months compared to 3 months in placebo (132) and sorafenib showed 5 months of improvement in the DECISION trial (133). A more recent but retrospective study comparing lenvatinib and sorafenib, showed that lenvatinib had superior progression free survival (134).

TC with *BRAF* mutation regularly have decreased iodine uptake due to decreased expression of NIS. The concept of restoring RAI avidity by MAPK-inhibition (135) is interesting but has not yet been approved. Phase II studies showed that treatment with BRAF/MEK-inhibitors was safe and restored iodine uptake in patients with previously RAI-refractory and unresectable TC (136, 137). A review article suggested that select patients with metastatic RAI refractory DTC may benefit (138).

1.6 TREATMENT OF ANAPLASTIC THYROID CANCER

1.6.1 CHEMO-RADIOTHERAPY AND SURGERY

The Swedish approach to ATC treatment has been strictly palliative. The goal of the treatment has been local tumor control to prevent the patient from dying of suffocation. This has been achieved by pre-operative radio-sensitizing chemotherapy followed by surgery if the patient is operable and the tumor resectable (7, 139). Tracheostomy is discouraged but sometimes necessary due to risk of acute airway obstruction (28).

1.6.2 TARGETED THERAPY AND SURGERY

With new therapeutic systemic agents available, surgery may be considered without preoperative radio-chemotherapy if complete tumor resection is possible (28). These cases are restricted to patients with tumor confined to the neck, stage IVa, and some cases of stage IVb.

The introduction of molecular analyses and targeted therapy has meant a paradigm shift in the treatment of ATC, offering patients with locally/regionally limited disease a chance of treatment with curative intent

(22). In cases of tumors with mutations in "druggable" targets, a more efficient systemic treatment is available compared to radiochemo-therapy described above. Treatment of ATC tumors with *BRAF* mutation is the most studied which is not surprising considering that approximately 45% of all ATC tumors have this mutation (23). *BRAF* mutated ATC is treated with a combination of BRAF and MEK inhibitors, following the same protocol as for other *BRAF* mutated tumors, for example metastasized malignant melanoma. The combination of *BRAF* and MEK inhibitors has been shown to delay drug resistance (140). Treatment with BRAF/MEK inhibitors have rapid tumor response and immediate testing of *BRAF* mutation (IHC preferably because result is reliable and can be obtained within 2 days) is important since untreated ATC usually progresses quickly with risk of threatening local symptoms, *e.g.* loss of airway. A non-randomized phase 2 study showed overall response rate of 56% in 36 patients with *BRAF* mutated ATC (141).

Novel treatment options for ATC patients with *BRAF* wild-type tumors, are less studied. As discussed in section <u>1.1.7 Anaplastic thyroid carcinoma</u>, ATC has a higher mutational burden compared to DTC implying that immunotherapy could be an effective treatment. A phase I/II study included 42 patients with progressive ATC and showed that 19% of patients treated with the PD-L1-inhibitor spartlizumab responded (142). A subgroup analysis showed that patients with tumors expressing PD-L1 \geq 50% had higher response rate (35%) compared to those who lacked PD-L1 expression (0%). Treatments with combinations of PD-L1-inhibitor and TKI has also been studied. A retrospective study including eight ATC patients treated with a combination of PD-L1-inhibitor pembrolizumab and lenvatinib showed promising results (143).

2 AIM

The primary aims of this thesis were to investigate the patterns of the increasing incidence of TC In Western Sweden, the performance of US RSS (specifically EU-TIRADS) and finally to establish an experimental platform for advanced TC.

Paper I: The purpose of this study was to investigate changes in TC incidence, the mode of TC detection, and the outcome of patients diagnosed with TC 2001-2014 in Western Sweden.

Paper II: This study aimed to investigate the magnitude of reduction in unnecessary FNA when implementing US RSS EU-TIRADS in a TC programme at Sahlgrenska University Hospital.

Paper III: The purpose was to evaluate the safety of selective FNA using EU-TIRADS with non-selective FNA as a reference regarding missed TC.

Paper IV: The aim was to establish a PDX model for TC development and evaluation of drug therapy in advanced TC.

3 PATIENTS AND METHODS

The four studies included in this thesis are summarized in Table 1.

Table 1. Thesis at a glance.

Study	Design	Aim/ Hypothesis	Subjects/Stu dy period	Main findings	
I	Population- based	Exploring changes in TC incidence and patterns of detection	Patients diagnosed with TC in Western Sweden 2001-	Threefold increase of TC, included stages ≤T3 Clinical signs, not imaging, was the most common mode of detection.	
			2014 n=1230		
П	Cohort	Investigate the clinical impact of introducing EU-	Patients referred to SU for US 2018-2022	EU-TIRADS omitted FNA in 7% of patients.	
		to reduce FNA rates	n=990	EU-TIRADS is safe but its impact limited.	
III	Multicenter RCT	Rate of suspicious FNA higher in selective group No difference in ROM	Patients undergoing US in Western Sweden 2022-2023 n=195 in 2 arms	Rate of Bethesda IV-VI higher in selective group. No difference in ROM.	
IV	Prospective experimental cohort	Establish TC PDX model Drug testing	Patients undergoing surgery for advanced TC at SU 2018-2020 n=8	PDX of advanced TC rarely successful. Support of thyroid SCC being a subtype of ATC. New targeted drug option, based on molecular characterization	

TC – thyroid cancer, SU – Sahlgrenska University Hospital, US – ultrasound, FNA – Fine needle aspiration cytology, ROM – Rate of malignancy, SCC – Squamous Cell Carcinoma, PDX - Patient derived xenograft.

3.1 PAPER I

Paper I was a population-based regional cohort study. All patients in Western Sweden diagnosed with primary TC (ICD code C73.9) 2001 - 2014 were included in the initial analysis. Data on diagnosis and personal identity number was retrieved from the National Cancer Register (144). Local medical records were searched to ensure complete inclusion of patients. Local medical records were also used for retrieval of data on tumor type, stage, mode of detection and follow-up.

3.2 PAPER II

Paper II was a retrospective single center study. The study included patients referred to the department of neuroradiology at SU due to signs or symptoms according to the standardized care bundle for TC (61) (Swedish: filterfunktion SVF sköldkörtelcancer) between March 2018 and January 2022. Patients with a previous history of TC and patients with non-thyroid disease (lymphoma, n=3) were excluded. Patients with no focal lesions on US (EU-TIRADS 1) were also excluded.

In addition to basic patient characteristics, nodule size, distributions of EU-TIRADS and Bethesda category, repeat examination, frequency and outcome of surgery were studied.

3.3 PAPER III

Paper III was a regional randomized controlled interventional study, including four hospitals in Western Sweden. Patients referred to US of the thyroid due to symptoms that could indicate TC were eligible for inclusion. Patients ≥ 18 years old and no previous history of TC were included. Participating radiology departments were SU, Norra Älvsborg Hospital, Kungälv Hospital and Södra Älvsborg Hospital. A care report form (CRF) was used by the radiologist and collected by a research coordinator.

Primary endpoint was the frequency of Bethesda IV-VI and it was hypothesized that this would be higher in the intervention group. The secondary outcome was rate of malignancy (ROM), and the hypothesis was that there would be no significant difference between the two groups. Sample size calculation estimated at power 0.8 and significance level 0.05 that approximately 150 observations were required for the primary outcome. Sample size for the secondary outcome was calculated using a method for a non-inferiority trial. With the same levels of power and significance, it was estimated that between 619 and 10 142 observations were needed depending on difference in ROM accepted between the groups and depending on ROM in the control group. It was considered not possible to include enough patients to answer the secondary outcome with statistical significance. For these reasons, it was decided to include 200 patients.

Patients were randomized 1:1 in random permutated blocks to either USguided non-selective FNA (control) or selective FNA according to EU-TIRADS criteria (intervention). Patients in the control group were also assessed according to EU-TIRADS and FNA was performed in all EU-TIRADS 3 and 4 lesions >1 cm if no more than five were identified. For EU-TIRADS 5 the indication for FNA was identical to the intervention group.

All FNA specimens were evaluated using routine assessment according to the Bethesda system (94).

3.4 PAPER IV

Patients referred to SU for surgery of locally advanced TC were eligible for inclusion. Patients were identified according to a pre-specified study protocol. Clinical data such as preoperative imaging, FNA and routine histo-pathology was retrieved from medical records.

Directly after surgical removal, fresh tumor tissue was excised with assistance of the pathologist. Samples were implanted subcutaneously into the flank of immunodeficient mice. Tumor size was repeatedly estimated macroscopically with a caliper in 3 dimensions to calculate tumor volume.

In parallel, tumor tissue was fixed in 4% formalin, subject to routine hematoxylin-eosin and IHC. IHC antibodies were labeled against NKX2-1/TTF-1, CDH1/E-cadherin, CDH2/N-cadherin, SLUG, Ki67 and NQO1.

Whole exome sequencing and transcriptional profiling by RNA sequencing were performed on DNA/RNA extracted from xenografted tumor material

originating from case 3 (described in Paper IV) to assess possibly targetable mutations.

NOG mice carrying tumor third generation tumor transplant from case 3 in Paper IV were randomized for drug treatment with cabozantinib, GDC-0236 (specific PI3K α -inhibitor) or CB-893 (glutaminase inhibitor) based on mutational analysis.

3.5 STATISTICS

Paper I: Age-standardized incidence rates per 100 000 person-years (ASR) were calculated with correlation to the world standard population. ASR was calculated separately for means of detection, tumor type, T-stage. ASR differences at 5% significance level between groups was considered significant by calculating standardized rate ratio with 95% confidence interval.

Paper II: Chi-squared test was used for comparison between groups. Rate of malignancy was defined as number of patients diagnosed with TC divided by the number of patients operated. Sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value and negative predictive value was calculated for EU-TIRADS.

Paper III: For comparisons between groups chi-squared test, Wilcoxon rank sum test and Students t-test was used for comparison between groups. A p-value <0.05 was considered significant.

Paper IV: Two-sided t-test was used when comparing tumor sizes. Statistical significance was set at p < 0.05.

3.6 ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS

All studies were approved by the regional ethical board in Göteborg, Lund or Uppsala (paper I: diary number 261-11 and complementary diary number T131-18, paper II: diary number 2022-03136-02, paper III: diary number 2021-01490, paper IV: diary number 822-15 and complementary diary number 2023-03923-02). For papers III and IV patients received written and oral information and provided a written consent.

4 RESULTS

4.1 PAPER I

According to the Swedish cancer registry, a total of 1230 patients were diagnosed with TC in Western Sweden during the study period 2001 - 2014. The age-standardized incidence rates per 100 000 person years (ASR) increased from 1.1 (men) and 3.1 (women) in 2001 to 3.8 (men) and 10.7 (women) in 2014. This corresponds to an estimated annual percentage change (EAPC) of +8.0% for men (95% c.i. 4.3 to 11.7) and +10.4% for women (95% c.i. 8.1 - 12.8). The incidence of TC was higher in Western Sweden compared to the entire Swedish population.

A cohort of all 736 patients diagnosed with TC in Western Sweden during three time periods 2001-02, 2006-07 and 2011-2014 were analyzed with respect to type of TC, mode of tumor detection and tumor stage. ASR for MTC and ATC did not change during the study period. PTC increased threefold and FTC increased fivefold when comparing the first and the last study periods. For DTC all tumor stages T1a – T3 increased significantly and of similar magnitude across T-stages. DTC stage T4 doubled in ASR but this increase was not statistically significant.

The most common mode of tumor detection was palpation (64%), *i.e.* signs or symptoms that led to pre-operative diagnostic workup showing TC or suspicious TC. The ASR of this group increased approximately three times comparing the first and last study periods. The second most common mode of detection was incidental diagnosis of TC (30%), *i.e.* patients who underwent surgery due to benign indications and where the postoperative histopathology report showed TC. The incidental group increased more than three times during the study period. Mean size of incidentally detected tumors did not change during the study period and was significantly smaller compared to TC detected by palpation. Some 65% of incidentally detected tumors were microcarcinomas, where 21% were >2 cm in diameter, and 10% were >4 cm. No TC was diagnosed due to imaging, *i.e.* thyroid incidentaloma (see definition page vii) during the first study period (2001-02). Altogether, 37 patients (5%) were diagnosed due to thyroid incidentaloma.

4.2 PAPER II

Some 990 patients referred to the department of neuroradiology for cervical US and FNA according to SCB criteria between March 2018 and January 2022 were included.

FNA was omitted in 7% of the patients due to EU-TIRADS recommendations. Some 121 (10%) nodules underwent FNA despite no indication (lesions smaller than cut-off levels and PET-positive findings or patients with lymph nodes suspicious for metastatic spread excluded). Of these, 19 nodules underwent surgery of which 3 (2%, in three patients) were malignant.

Some 282 (28%) patients underwent thyroid surgery. The indication for surgery was malignancy or excluding malignancy in 200 patients (71%), benign non-toxic goiter in 74 patients (26%) and hyperthyroidism in 7 patients (2%). ROM was 33% compared to 26% in the historical cohort.

4.3 PAPER III

After having prolonged the inclusion period by three months, a total of 195 patients with 294 nodules were included, 93 patients (48%) in the non-selective arm and 102 (52%) in the selective. Five patients less than planned were included and inclusion was closed due to slow recruitment rate. Four centers in Western Sweden participated (distribution of patients): SU (44%), Norra Älvsborg Hospital (30%), Kungälv Hospital (25%) and Södra Älvsborg Hospital (1%).

The mean number of FNA performed was significantly higher in the non-selective group (1.53 nodules) compared to the selective (0.94) (p=0.0016).

The frequency of Bethesda IV-VI in patients randomized to intervention was 13% (counting the highest yielding Bethesda category if multiple nodules) vs 7% in the control group (p=0.039) (primary endpoint.

Altogether 41patients (21%) underwent surgery at latest follow up 8 January 2024. TC (*i.e.* microcarcinomas) that had not been recorded in the CRF were excluded. Five patients (5%) in the control group and six patients (6%) in the intervention group were diagnosed with TC (secondary outcome).

4.4 PAPER IV

Tumor tissue was collected from eight patients with locally advanced TC and subsequently xenografted to immunomodulated mice as described in the methods section. See Table 2 for details. Of the eight tumors collected, one tumor (referred to as case 3 in Paper IV) was successfully grafted in which routine histo-pathology showed squamous cell carcinoma (SCC). Additionally, two patients (case 1 and 2) diagnosed with SCC but not included preoperatively were analyzed with routine histo-pathology, enhanced IHC and molecular profiling.

Case 1 was diagnosed with follicular adenoma plus an incidental finding of a 5 mm lesion of mixed PTC/SCC. The tumor was radically removed, and the patient was considered free of disease.

Case 2 was diagnosed with a mixed PTC/SCC tumor, stage pT3N1a, and at the same time diagnosed with vulvar SCC. The patient received RAI (3.7 GBq) and external beam radiation due to incomplete resection of the thyroid tumor. Post RAI whole body scan showed uptake in the neck consistent with persistent disease but no signs of distant metastases. Post radiation magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) showed no sign of tumor progression.

Histology could not rule out the possibility of collision tumor between PTC and SCC in the thyroid. However, IHC in a subset of deviant PTC cells revealed expression of CK7 and CK19 in accordance with adjacent SCC tumor cells. These PTC cells were CK5/6 negative, as opposed to SCC cells, but displayed weak CD10 expression, which was completely absent in the PTC bulk tumor but strongly expressed in SCC cells. Target capture sequencing confirmed identical pathogenic mutations in both thyroid tumors but unique signature in the vulval SCC, strongly suggesting a transition of PTC to SCC by transdifferentiation.

Histopathology reports showed SCC of the same growth pattern in the thyroid and the vulva.

Age/sex ¹	Diagnosis ²	Stage ³	Adjuvant Treatment ⁴	Survival ⁵	PDX ⁶
40/F	РТС	T2(m)N1bM0	RAI 3.7 GBq	NED	-
47/F	ATC	T4N1bM0	XTR 45 Gy + paclitaxel	DOD (6)	-
89/F	PDTC	T4N1bM1	RAI 7.4 GBq	DOD (8)	-
70/F	FTC	T3NxM0	RAI 3.7x2 + redo surgery	AWD	-
85/F	PTC	T1bN1bM0	RAI 3.7 GBq	NED	-
69/F	FTC/NET*	T1bNxM1	temozolamid/kapecitabin	DOD (18)	-
69/M	SCC	T3N1bM0	See Paper IV	DOD (14)	40
35/M	PTC	ТЗN1bM0	RAI 3.7 GBq	NED	-

Table 2.	Clinical	data	correst	oonding	to	patient-derived	xenogra	fts in	Paper	IV.
						1	0,			

¹Years; F – female; M – male.

² Based on routine histopathology: PTC - papillary thyroid carcinoma; PDTC - poorly differentiated thyroid carcinoma; ATC - anaplastic thyroid carcinoma; FTC – follicular thyroid carcinoma; NET – neuroendocrine carcinoma; SCC - squamous cell carcinoma.

³Tumor staging according to 7th edition of the TNM Staging System of the American Joint Committee on Cancer (AJCC).

⁴XTR - External beam radiation; RAI - radioiodine.

⁵NED - No evidence of disease; DOD - Dead of disease; AWD - Alive with disease; mo - Months survival time after diagnosis.

⁶Observation time (days) until successful growth of transplant. Negative transplants were observed for at least 12 months.

*calcitonin negative, RET negative, neuroendocrine tumor primary in thyroid.

Case 3, SCC, was successfully enrolled in the PDX-study, with evident tumor growth 40 days post-implantation and grafts propagated for three generations. Primary tumor and grafts displayed high similarity in tumor cell morphology and specific staining, with evident signs of EMT and thyroid precursor origin. Whole exome sequencing of PDX-grafts revealed possible targetable mutations including *PIK3CA* and *NFE2L2*. PDX-mice treatment experiment with cabozantinib, GDC-0326 (PIK3a-inhibitor) or CB-893 (glutaminase inhibitor) showed that single treatment with CB-893 had largest successful impact on tumor progression (*i.e.* preventing growth) followed by a combination of cabozantinib and GDC-0326.

5 DISCUSSION

This thesis explores different diagnostic aspects of TC. Paper I investigated incidence changes of TC in Western Sweden, not only in overall frequency but also types of TC, tumor stages, how tumors were detected and outcome. Paper II and III evaluated the initial work-up for patients with clinical/radiological symptoms or signs that could indicate TC. In conclusion these papers showed that EU-TIRADS adequately omits FNA for benign nodules without missing TC but the frequency of omitting benign nodules is rather low. Paper IV addressed TC patients with advanced disease where treatment options are limited. It supported the hypothesis that thyroid SCC is a subtype of ATC. Paper IV also suggested treatment with novel targeted therapy after molecular analysis.

5.1 THE SCOPE OF THYROID CANCER INCIDENCE

There has been an ongoing debate the last two decades or so on the mechanisms behind the worldwide increase in TC and there are an overwhelming number of reports agreeing that the largest contribution to the increase in TC is detection of clinically insignificant PTC identified by US (3, 145, 146). Some authors argue that because of this debate, awareness of the problems with potential overdiagnosis led to adjustments of guidelines which in turn has led to a reduced increase of TC incidence (147, 148). However, in Sweden it is not likely that the same mechanisms have caused TC incidence as described by American, South Korean, French and Italian authors (56, 57, 145, 146, 149, 150). In Sweden, health care is almost entirely funded by public means and practice guidelines are uniform throughout the country. The use of office-based US is uncommon among physicians in primary care and endocrinologists which means that this modality is not as easily accessible as in many other countries. The threshold to perform cervical US was most likely higher in Western Sweden in 2001-2014 compared to many other countries at that time and probably also compared to the situation in Sweden today. This is supported in Paper I by the finding that the overall frequency of imaging findings (thyroid incidentaloma) was low (5%), but it increased from 0% in the first period to 7% in the last period. If Paper I was to be carried out again

today, this number would probably be even higher but still not comparable to what is observed in many other countries.

The prerequisite for the increased TC detection to be driven by increased and unmotivated cervical US is the existence of a subclinical reservoir of TC. In Paper I, the subclinical reservoir was exposed by increased surgical procedures rather than preoperative diagnostic procedures, confirming the notion of such a reservoir. Patients who underwent thyroid surgery due to benign indication with TC as an incidental finding, contributed significantly to the observed increase. This was confirmed by the finding that 65% of these were microPTC (PTC ≤ 1 cm). As described in Paper I, the total number of total thyroidectomies increased five-fold during the study period although the reason for this dramatic increase was not investigated and is unknown.

Although Paper I showed a threefold rise in TC incidence in Sweden, the overall incidence is of a significantly lower magnitude compared to South Korea, the United States and Italy (145).

The study showed that increased TC incidence was not restricted to clinically insignificant small PTC but also comprised more advanced TC. Apart from analyzing patterns of TC incidence in Western Sweden, follow-up was also recorded. In the two first cohorts 11% (first cohort) and 7% (second cohort) of the patients with DTC or PDTC died of disease. The extent of surgery was the only treatment that was recorded in the study but at this time systemic treatment with TKI was not available. We do not know to what extent these patients were treated with RAI or how they responded to RAI but most likely, the majority were either RAI refractory at the time of diagnosis or developed RAI resistance.

The relatively high number patients with poor outcome is partly due to the decision to include also PDTC in the analysis but provides further support to the conclusion that most patients in this study had symptomatic tumors, not indolent tumors detected by overzealous US examinations.

5.2 THYROID NODULE MANAGEMENT

Paper II aimed to evaluate the (1) impact and (2) safety of selective FNA using EU-TIRADS after four years of clinical practice at SU. The effect size of EU-

TIRADS, or any other US RSS, has on the frequency of FNA varies in the literature from having no significant impact to 50% FNA omitted (151, 152), which places the finding of a 7% reduction of FNA in the present study in the lower range. All US RSS are based on similar features although each feature may be weighted slightly different and cut-off diameter for performing FNA also vary slightly (75). Therefore, the difference in overall performance is most likely not decisive. A more important factor that influences the frequency of omitted FNA is the selection of patients being referred to US RSS. EU-TIRADS can only affect nodules between 1 and 2 cm concerning FNA or no FNA. Mean size of nodules in Paper II was 27 mm (\pm 15) which means that most solid nodules underwent FNA regardless of US features, *i.e.* EU-TIRADS score. This relatively large mean nodule size might be due to the selection of patients according to the SCB criteria. Nevertheless, the effect on patients that did not undergo FNA was only 7% which is less than expected.

Considering that 9% of the included patients had TC, > 80% underwent FNA despite benign outcome meaning that the EU-TIRADS could not sufficiently rule out malignancy. The results also showed that the frequency of omitted FNA could have been higher (17%) if strict criteria had been followed. This discrepancy cannot be explained since this was a retrospective study. However, a large proportion of nodules undergoing FNA despite not recommended by EU-TIRADS, were \leq 3 mm smaller in diameter than recommended cut-off size. It may be speculated that the radiologists were more comfortable performing FNA than to abstain, especially considering that according to regional guidelines there was no structured follow-up of nodules (except for EU-TIRADS 5) if FNA was omitted.

Out of 121 nodules undergoing FNA without fulfilling criteria for FNA according to guidelines, only three were malignant (2%). The reasons for not following strict criteria are not known but it could be speculated that the radiologist in borderline cases preferred to perform FNA. It should also be mentioned that patients not undergoing FNA are not subject to follow-up which might contribute to the decision to perform FNA.

Paper III also assessed the impact on FNA frequency. The proportion of patients undergoing FNA was significantly reduced in the intervention group compared to the control group. This is not a surprise considering that omitting FNA is a major concept of EU-TIRADS and any other US RSS. In the current

study, FNA was omitted in 30% of the patients in the intervention group compared to 8% in the control group if all cases are included. If only solid lesions are considered, FNA was omitted in 9% of patients. This figure is similar to the frequency of omitted FNA in Paper II but with the important difference that strict criteria for FNA was kept in Paper III but not in Paper II. In Paper II, 17% of patients would have avoided FNA if strict criteria had been applied which illustrates that the effect of EU-TIRADS on avoiding FNA depends highly on what patients are examined.

The primary endpoint of Paper III was the rate of Bethesda IV-VI. This endpoint was assessed both for nodules and patients (counting the highest yielding nodules for each patient). The intervention groups had significantly higher proportion of Bethesda IV-VI when comparing patients with the highest yielding nodule (11% vs 7%, p=0.039). This is to the authors' knowledge, the first randomized controlled trial that investigates the ability of an US RSS to select nodules with increased risk for TC.

The secondary outcome was the rate of malignancy, and it was hypothesized that there would be no difference. Paper III showed that 7% in the intervention group were diagnosed with TC and 6% in the control group. The statistical significance was not tested because we did not include enough patients to show a non-inferiority of selecting nodules using EU-TIRADS. Using a non-inferiority design demands more patients compared to a hypothesis in which superiority is tested. In Paper III we aimed at including 200 patients but had to extend the inclusion period by three months due to slow inclusion rate. In retrospect it was therefore correct not to aim for statistical significance for this endpoint. However, the rate of malignancy was one percentage unit higher in the intervention group and there was no indication that EU-TIRADS dismissed malignant nodules.

5.3 ADVANCED THYROID CANCER

One important aim of the work that eventually led to Paper IV was to establish tumor platforms that could be used for further characterization of advanced TC. The two models were based on (1) in vitro 3D tumor biopsy and (2) PDX model in immunomodulated mice. In conclusion, these models were difficult to establish. The *in vitro* 3D tumor biopsy platform showed that tumor tissues were viable for weeks to months and signs of tumor infiltration was seen

although it was difficult to distinguish cancer cells from stroma cells (data not published), thus making tumor progression difficult to examine.

Already in the early 1980's, tissue from a patients with Graves' disease was successfully transplanted to athymic nude mice (153). ATC tumors have previously been transplanted to immunomodulated mice and in vivo models have been proven useful in the evaluation of novel drugs (154, 155). In our series of eight cases of advanced TC transplanted to immunomodulated mice, only one case successfully progressed. The preoperative diagnosis in this case was not known and the histopathologic report showed SCC, at the time of diagnosis not recognized as a subtype of ATC. Considering that adjacent organs such as the esophagus are known to harbor tumors of SCC type it is not farfetched to believe that a tumor of SCC in the thyroid in fact is not primary from the thyroid but rather from the esophagus. In the case described in Paper IV, clinical investigations could not confirm origin other than the thyroid. CT showed that there was no clear layer between the thyroid tumor and the esophagus but trachea-esophagoscopy showed no signs of tumor. Biopsies from the esophagus and trachea showed normal epithelium. In addition to the above-described case (case 3 in Paper IV), two other patients were identified being diagnosed with SCC. Case 1 was an early-stage carcinoma with tumor diameter of only 5 mm and surrounded by normal thyroid parenchyma. Histopathology showed a gradual shift from PTC to squamous metaplasia and further to SCC, providing proof of concept that SCC may arise primarily in the thyroid. A gradual tumor transformation from PTC to SCC is more likely than a collision tumor.

Case 2 in Paper IV was also a compound PTC/SCC tumor, although larger (38 mm in diameter). The tumor had a small PTC component in the center with a surrounding larger dominating SCC differentiated component showing signs of infiltrative growth into the surrounding stroma. This tumor also showed signs of tumor transdifferentiation rather than colliding tumors. A small subset of PTC cells was clearly different compared to the main bulk of PTC. They were negative to CK5/6 (positive in SCC) while CD10 was strongly expressed in SCC, weak expression in the small subset of PTC and absent in the main bulk of PTC. Other markers showing the same type of pattern are TTF-1 and Tg which both were strongly positive in the bulk of the PTC with gradual weakening to not being expressed at all in the SCC part. This indicates a transdifferentiation of cancer cells from PTC to SCC. Like the tumor in case

1, the tumor in case 2 was surrounded by a capsule, indicating one single tumor rather than two merging tumors (colliding tumors).

Case 3 was in the first histopathologic report classified as entirely SCC. Further work-up revealed signs of small islets of SCC cells expressing NKX2-1/TTF-1 indicating thyroid origin.

Indeed, case 3 resembled ATC regarding tumor onset, infiltrative growth of the recurrent laryngeal nerve, R2 resection, poor response to postoperative oncologic treatment and finally outcome (dead of disease 14 months after diagnosis). The conclusion in Paper IV that SCC may progress from PTC to SCC is concordant with the 2022 WHO classification stating that SCC is regarded as a subtype of ATC (2).

Out of eight patients, case 3 was the only tumor that was successfully xenotransplanted. A whole exome sequencing of PDX biopsies was performed. The mutations that were likely pathogenic included *CDKN2A*, *NFE2L2*, *PIK3CA* and TP53 which is commonly found in SCC of other origin than thyroid. The patient was treated with radio-chemotherapy with curative intent but post radiation radiology showed residual tumor at the target of radiation and metastases that were previously undetected. This lack of response may be explained by the overexpression of NRF2 (encoded by *NFE2L2*) in esophageal SCC which has been shown to promote resistance to radiation (156, 157).

The *NFE2L2* gene is a "druggable" target although there are no drugs in clinical use today (158). This approach was tested in the PDX model, with significant tumor response in mice treated with selective glutaminase inhibitor CB-893 (GLSi) and in mice treated with a combination of cabozantinib and PI3K-inhibitor GDC-0326, strongly suggesting that the *NFE2L2* is a driver mutation. These results encourage further testing of this drug in ATC tumors with SCC subclassification.

6 CONCLUSION

- A threefold increase of TC was observed in Western Sweden during the study period, 2001 – 2014. Primary tumor stages T1a-T3 contributed equally to this increase. Stage T4 tumors also increased although not statistically significant.
- TC related symptoms like a palpable tumor was the most common mode of detection in all three time periods investigated. In contrast to most other reports, imaging did not contribute to the increase of TC incidence.
- The proportion of FNA was reduced by 7% in patients undergoing US with selective FNA according to EU-TIRADS. This proportion could have been higher if strict criteria had been applied. It was estimated that 2% of the omitted nodules were TC which was considered acceptable. Thus, it was concluded that EU-TIRADS has a limited effect on reducing unnecessary FNA although it is safe to use.
- In a randomized controlled trial setting EU-TIRADS reduced the proportion of unnecessary FNA compared to control group (FNA without applying US RSS). As hypothesized, the proportion of FNA requiring surgery (Bethesda IV-VI), was significantly higher in the intervention group. There was no difference in rate of malignancy between control and intervention groups.
- PDX of advanced TC was difficult to establish, only one out of eight transplants was established. Paper IV supports that SCC should be regarded as a subtype of ATC. Molecular analysis revealed a druggable target (*NFE2L2*) which was confirmed by tumor response in treated mice (selective glutaminase inhibitor CB-893).

7 FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

Paper I did not provide a hypothesis for the underlying mechanisms of TC increase. The only commonly accepted environmental risk factor is radiation It was discussed that increased radiation as a cause of increased TC was possible but not likely although no data was provided in support. Iodine imbalance was also discussed but contributed most likely even less. Obesity was not discussed although it has been inflicted as a risk factor for developing TC (159). This was not assessed in Paper I since data was not possible to retrieve and this could be studied further considering Sweden has good quality registries that are validated and have good coverage.

The conclusions in Paper II and III were that EU-TIRADS has some effect but rather limited. As mentioned in <u>1.4.1.1 Ultrasound risk stratification systems</u>, up to twenty different US RSS have been developed and most of them share features that influence the performance. Perhaps the great number of US RSS is a symptom of their shortcomings and there might be more to explore.

Progress has been made in the preoperative diagnosis of TC since the introduction and development of FNA, US and RSS. However, from this thesis it is obvious that obstacles remain to be overcome. Molecular analysis is an area of rapid development and improvements in preoperative diagnosis has the potential to reduce costs and provide correct treatment for patients.

Besides KEAP1 and NRF2 mutations, which are associated with SCC tumor development in other locations *e.g.* head and neck, other mutations identified in particular in Case 2 (STK11, RB1) are new for TC and the potential pathogenic role(s) in squamous differentiation of tumor cells yet unknown. One way to address this issue would be screen for mutations retrospectively in formalin-fixed paraffin-embedded-banked tissue and employing the 560 target panel recently implemented at SU in a larger series of SCC tumors obtained from thyroid and other locations where squamous epithelia are normally absent. Another approach would be to experimentally monitor the possibility of SCC transdifferentiation after knockdown target genes of interest, a challenge would be to find a suitable, preferably thyroid-derived cell line.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

Firstly, I would like to thank the patients who have given their consent to participate in the studies that are part of this thesis, especially the patients included in Paper III and IV. Without you this would not be possible. Thank you!

Secondly, I would like to point special thoughts to two people who are no longer with us. **Svante Jansson** introduced me to research at SU and we worked together on my first and your last scientific work. It was a privilege to know you and work with you.

Lasse Nilsson, my father who was an immunologist. Although not happy that I chose surgery, you supported me and reminded me even at the very end of what makes good research.

Andreas Muth, my boss and at the end of this project my main supervisor. If I've ever achieved anything, it is with your help. Thank you for believing in me when I was still a junior member of our team. Without your support, neither the clinical changes nor this thesis have been we have accomplished.

Mikael Nilsson, my first main supervisor. You're one of the most generous persons I know. You took me to places I never would have visited without you, both geographically and scientifically.

Erik Elias, co-supervisor and colleague. You filled in the last missing piece in this puzzle and for that I'm grateful.

Bengt Nilsson, co-supervisor and former colleague at Sahlgrenska. You taught me more than I realized at first. You also gave me my first experience in how tough research can be.

Maria Nilsson, research nurse. Thank you for keeping track of all patients and CRFs.

Anna-Karin Elf, head of the endocrine section. Thank you for your support and understanding both with this project and RCC.

Anders Thornell, Stefan Lindskog, Lisa Gunnesson, Marta Berndsen, Edward Lecaros, Emma Larsson, Anna Hultmark and Johanna Svensson, my closest colleagues. We share working space like one (mostly) happy family. Thank you for keeping up the good spirit.

Elin Schoultz, my partner with Mikael. Thank you for all your help. We're the new generation taking over.

Christina Swärd, former colleague, head of endocrine section when I started at Sahlgrenska and the person who hired me. I still remember when I was "paged" and you asked me to come down from Östersund to Göteborg for a job interview. Without that call, none of this would have happened.

Bo Wängberg, former colleague. You have been a mentor to me both in the operating room and in being a "good doctor".

Per Bümming, former colleague. We have shared some fine bottles of wine and I hope we will share many more.

Gunilla Hedbäck, former endocrine surgeon at Sahlgenska and Borås Hospital. Your persistence is like no other.

Jeanette Carlqvist, radiologist at Sahlgrenska. Although you don't consider the thyroid to be the most important organ of the body (which the rest of us do) I'm very happy we have found a way to collaborate.

Erik Johnson, former head of surgery. Thank you for being a pragmatic boss and letting us endocrine surgeons do the dotti totti.

Svein-Olav Bratlie, colleague and my first roommate at Elevhemmet. Thank you for relieving me from the burdens of research and taking me along to fantastic skiing.

Christina Jansson, former colleague and clinical supervisor during my surgical training in Östersund. You are the most ambitious instructor I have ever met. You encouraged me to reach out to the section of endocrine surgery at Sahlgrenska.

Malin Samuelsson and Astrid Carling, my friends at RCC. Thank you for keeping track of me when I'm lost.

My wife **Pia**, I'm not sure if it was a good idea to do the dissertations simultaneously but I think it was. Thank you for your love and for reminding me of what is important in life.

...and our fantastic children Lydia, Nils and Alice. Thank you for your patience. Your parents haven't always been very fun to hang around with in the evenings, but I think somehow that you understand why we do this.

REFERENCES

1. Siegel R, Naishadham D, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2013. CA Cancer J Clin. 2013;63(1):11-30.

2. Baloch ZW, Asa SL, Barletta JA, Ghossein RA, Juhlin CC, Jung CK, et al. Overview of the 2022 WHO Classification of Thyroid Neoplasms. Endocrine Pathology. 2022;33(1):27-63.

3. Chen DW, Lang BHH, McLeod DSA, Newbold K, Haymart MR. Thyroid cancer. Lancet. 2023;401(10387):1531-44.

4. Christofer Juhlin C, Mete O, Baloch ZW. The 2022 WHO classification of thyroid tumors: novel concepts in nomenclature and grading. Endocr Relat Cancer. 2023;30(2).

5. Nikiforov YE, Seethala RR, Tallini G, Baloch ZW, Basolo F, Thompson LD, et al. Nomenclature Revision for Encapsulated Follicular Variant of Papillary Thyroid Carcinoma: A Paradigm Shift to Reduce Overtreatment of Indolent Tumors. JAMA Oncol. 2016;2(8):1023-9.

6. WHO Classification of Tumours of Endocrine Organs. 4 ed2017.

7.RCC.Sköldkörtelcancer,Nationelltvårdprogram2021[2.0:[Availablefrom:

https://kunskapsbanken.cancercentrum.se/globalassets/cancerdiagnoser/skold kortel/vardprogram/nationellt-vardprogram-skoldkortelcancer.pdf

8. Hysek M, Paulsson JO, Jatta K, Shabo I, Stenman A, Höög A, et al. Clinical Routine TERT Promoter Mutational Screening of Follicular Thyroid Tumors of Uncertain Malignant Potential (FT-UMPs): A Useful Predictor of Metastatic Disease. Cancers (Basel). 2019;11(10).

9. Årsrapport 2023 SQRTPA 2023 [Available from: chromeextension://efaidnbmnnibpcajpcglclefindmkaj/<u>https://sqrtpa.se/sites/default/</u> files/sqrtpa/annual_reports/arsrapport_sqrtpa_2023.pdf.

10.RCC. Tyreoideacancer, Årsrapport nationellt kvalitetsregister20232023[Availablehttps://cancercentrum.se/globalassets/cancerdiagnoser/skoldkortel/kvalitetsregister/arsrapport2022tyreoidea.pdf.

11. Haugen BR, Alexander EK, Bible KC, Doherty GM, Mandel SJ, Nikiforov YE, et al. 2015 American Thyroid Association Management Guidelines for Adult Patients with Thyroid Nodules and Differentiated Thyroid Cancer: The American Thyroid Association Guidelines Task Force on Thyroid Nodules and Differentiated Thyroid Cancer. Thyroid. 2016;26(1):1-133.

12. Pacini F, Fuhrer D, Elisei R, Handkiewicz-Junak D, Leboulleux S, Luster M, et al. 2022 ETA Consensus Statement: What are the indications

for post-surgical radioiodine therapy in differentiated thyroid cancer? Eur Thyroid J. 2022;11(1).

13. Bonora E, Porcelli AM, Gasparre G, Biondi A, Ghelli A, Carelli V, et al. Defective oxidative phosphorylation in thyroid oncocytic carcinoma is associated with pathogenic mitochondrial DNA mutations affecting complexes I and III. Cancer Res. 2006;66(12):6087-96.

14. Máximo V, Botelho T, Capela J, Soares P, Lima J, Taveira A, et al. Somatic and germline mutation in GRIM-19, a dual function gene involved in mitochondrial metabolism and cell death, is linked to mitochondrion-rich (Hurthle cell) tumours of the thyroid. Br J Cancer. 2005;92(10):1892-8.

15. Donis-Keller H, Dou S, Chi D, Carlson KM, Toshima K, Lairmore TC, et al. Mutations in the RET proto-oncogene are associated with MEN 2A and FMTC. Hum Mol Genet. 1993;2(7):851-6.

16. Mulligan LM, Kwok JB, Healey CS, Elsdon MJ, Eng C, Gardner E, et al. Germ-line mutations of the RET proto-oncogene in multiple endocrine neoplasia type 2A. Nature. 1993;363(6428):458-60.

17. Marsh DJ, Learoyd DL, Andrew SD, Krishnan L, Pojer R, Richardson AL, et al. Somatic mutations in the RET proto-oncogene in sporadic medullary thyroid carcinoma. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf). 1996;44(3):249-57.

18. Xu B, David J, Dogan S, Landa I, Katabi N, Saliba M, et al. Primary high-grade non-anaplastic thyroid carcinoma: a retrospective study of 364 cases. Histopathology. 2022;80(2):322-37.

19. Volante M, Collini P, Nikiforov YE, Sakamoto A, Kakudo K, Katoh R, et al. Poorly differentiated thyroid carcinoma: the Turin proposal for the use of uniform diagnostic criteria and an algorithmic diagnostic approach. Am J Surg Pathol. 2007;31(8):1256-64.

20. Hiltzik D, Carlson DL, Tuttle RM, Chuai S, Ishill N, Shaha A, et al. Poorly differentiated thyroid carcinomas defined on the basis of mitosis and necrosis. Cancer. 2006;106(6):1286-95.

21. Tong J, Ruan M, Jin Y, Fu H, Cheng L, Luo Q, et al. Poorly differentiated thyroid carcinoma: a clinician's perspective. Eur Thyroid J. 2022;11(2).

22. Shaha AR. Anaplastic Thyroid Cancer: Shifting Paradigms-A Ray of Hope. Thyroid. 2023;33(4):402-3.

23. Xu B, Fuchs T, Dogan S, Landa I, Katabi N, Fagin JA, et al. Dissecting Anaplastic Thyroid Carcinoma: A Comprehensive Clinical, Histologic, Immunophenotypic, and Molecular Study of 360 Cases. Thyroid. 2020;30(10):1505-17.

24. Patten DK, Ahmed A, Greaves O, Dina R, Flora R, Tolley N. Anaplastic Spindle Cell Squamous Carcinoma Arising from Tall Cell Variant

Papillary Carcinoma of the Thyroid Gland: A Case Report and Review of the Literature. Case Rep Endocrinol. 2017;2017:4581626.

25. Jannin A, Escande A, Al Ghuzlan A, Blanchard P, Hartl D, Chevalier B, et al. Anaplastic Thyroid Carcinoma: An Update. Cancers (Basel). 2022;14(4).

26. Di Palma T, Filippone MG, Pierantoni GM, Fusco A, Soddu S, Zannini M. Pax8 has a critical role in epithelial cell survival and proliferation. Cell Death Dis. 2013;4(7):e729.

27. Jin M, Jakowski J, Wakely PE, Jr. Undifferentiated (anaplastic) thyroid carcinoma and its mimics: a report of 59 cases. J Am Soc Cytopathol. 2016;5(2):107-15.

28. Bible KC, Kebebew E, Brierley J, Brito JP, Cabanillas ME, Clark TJ, Jr., et al. 2021 American Thyroid Association Guidelines for Management of Patients with Anaplastic Thyroid Cancer. Thyroid. 2021;31(3):337-86.

29. Yuan J, Guo Y. Targeted Therapy for Anaplastic Thyroid Carcinoma: Advances and Management. Cancers. 2022;15(1):179.

30. Zaballos MA, Acuña-Ruiz A, Morante M, Riesco-Eizaguirre G, Crespo P, Santisteban P. Inhibiting ERK dimerization ameliorates BRAFdriven anaplastic thyroid cancer. Cell Mol Life Sci. 2022;79(9):504.

31. Bonhomme B, Godbert Y, Perot G, Al Ghuzlan A, Bardet S, Belleannée G, et al. Molecular Pathology of Anaplastic Thyroid Carcinomas: A Retrospective Study of 144 Cases. Thyroid. 2017;27(5):682-92.

32. Prete A, Borges de Souza P, Censi S, Muzza M, Nucci N, Sponziello M. Update on Fundamental Mechanisms of Thyroid Cancer. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne). 2020;11:102.

33. Integrated genomic characterization of papillary thyroid carcinoma. Cell. 2014;159(3):676-90.

34. Fukahori M, Yoshida A, Hayashi H, Yoshihara M, Matsukuma S, Sakuma Y, et al. The associations between RAS mutations and clinical characteristics in follicular thyroid tumors: new insights from a single center and a large patient cohort. Thyroid. 2012;22(7):683-9.

35. Nikiforova MN, Biddinger PW, Caudill CM, Kroll TG, Nikiforov YE. PAX8-PPARgamma rearrangement in thyroid tumors: RT-PCR and immunohistochemical analyses. Am J Surg Pathol. 2002;26(8):1016-23.

36. Landa I, Ibrahimpasic T, Boucai L, Sinha R, Knauf JA, Shah RH, et al. Genomic and transcriptomic hallmarks of poorly differentiated and anaplastic thyroid cancers. J Clin Invest. 2016;126(3):1052-66.

37. Ito T, Seyama T, Mizuno T, Tsuyama N, Hayashi T, Hayashi Y, et al. Unique association of p53 mutations with undifferentiated but not with differentiated carcinomas of the thyroid gland. Cancer Res. 1992;52(5):1369-71.

38. Veschi V, Verona F, Lo Iacono M, D'Accardo C, Porcelli G, Turdo A, et al. Cancer Stem Cells in Thyroid Tumors: From the Origin to Metastasis. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne). 2020;11:566.

39. Lu W, Kang Y. Epithelial-Mesenchymal Plasticity in Cancer Progression and Metastasis. Dev Cell. 2019;49(3):361-74.

40. Freihen V, Rönsch K, Mastroianni J, Frey P, Rose K, Boerries M, et al. SNAIL1 employs β -Catenin-LEF1 complexes to control colorectal cancer cell invasion and proliferation. Int J Cancer. 2020;146(8):2229-42.

41. Brabant G, Hoang-Vu C, Cetin Y, Dralle H, Scheumann G, Mölne J, et al. E-Cadherin: A Differentiation Marker in Thyroid Malignancies1. Cancer Research. 1993;53(20):4987-93.

42. Read ML, Brookes K, Thornton CEM, Fletcher A, Nieto HR, Alshahrani M, et al. Targeting non-canonical pathways as a strategy to modulate the sodium iodide symporter. Cell Chem Biol. 2022;29(3):502-16.e7.

43. Pereira M, Williams VL, Hallanger Johnson J, Valderrabano P. Thyroid Cancer Incidence Trends in the United States: Association with Changes in Professional Guideline Recommendations. Thyroid. 2020;30(8):1132-40.

44. James BC, Mitchell JM, Jeon HD, Vasilottos N, Grogan RH, Aschebrook-Kilfoy B. An update in international trends in incidence rates of thyroid cancer, 1973-2007. Cancer Causes Control. 2018;29(4-5):465-73.

45. Jegerlehner S, Bulliard JL, Aujesky D, Rodondi N, Germann S, Konzelmann I, et al. Overdiagnosis and overtreatment of thyroid cancer: A population-based temporal trend study. PLoS One. 2017;12(6):e0179387.

46. Brito JP, Davies L. Is there really an increased incidence of thyroid cancer? Curr Opin Endocrinol Diabetes Obes. 2014;21(5):405-8.

47. Welch HG, Black WC. Overdiagnosis in cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2010;102(9):605-13.

48. Harach HR, Franssila KO, Wasenius VM. Occult papillary carcinoma of the thyroid. A "normal" finding in Finland. A systematic autopsy study. Cancer. 1985;56(3):531-8.

49. Davies L, Welch HG. Increasing incidence of thyroid cancer in the United States, 1973-2002. Jama. 2006;295(18):2164-7.

50. Arroyo N, Bell KJL, Hsiao V, Fernandes-Taylor S, Alagoz O, Zhang Y, et al. Prevalence of Subclinical Papillary Thyroid Cancer by Age: Meta-analysis of Autopsy Studies. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2022;107(10):2945-52.

51. Morris LG, Sikora AG, Tosteson TD, Davies L. The increasing incidence of thyroid cancer: the influence of access to care. Thyroid. 2013;23(7):885-91.

52. Black WC, Welch HG. Advances in diagnostic imaging and overestimations of disease prevalence and the benefits of therapy. N Engl J Med. 1993;328(17):1237-43.

53. Brito JP, Al Nofal A, Montori VM, Hay ID, Morris JC. The Impact of Subclinical Disease and Mechanism of Detection on the Rise in Thyroid Cancer Incidence: A Population-Based Study in Olmsted County, Minnesota During 1935 Through 2012. Thyroid. 2015;25(9):999-1007.

54. Park S, Oh CM, Cho H, Lee JY, Jung KW, Jun JK, et al. Association between screening and the thyroid cancer "epidemic" in South Korea: evidence from a nationwide study. Bmj. 2016;355:i5745.

55. Pizzato M, Li M, Vignat J, Laversanne M, Singh D, La Vecchia C, et al. The epidemiological landscape of thyroid cancer worldwide: GLOBOCAN estimates for incidence and mortality rates in 2020. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol. 2022;10(4):264-72.

56. Ahn HS, Kim HJ, Kim KH, Lee YS, Han SJ, Kim Y, et al. Thyroid Cancer Screening in South Korea Increases Detection of Papillary Cancers with No Impact on Other Subtypes or Thyroid Cancer Mortality. Thyroid. 2016;26(11):1535-40.

57. Lubitz CC, Sosa JA. The changing landscape of papillary thyroid cancer: Epidemiology, management, and the implications for patients. Cancer. 2016;122(24):3754-9.

58. Pandeya N, McLeod DS, Balasubramaniam K, Baade PD, Youl PH, Bain CJ, et al. Increasing thyroid cancer incidence in Queensland, Australia 1982-2008 - true increase or overdiagnosis? Clin Endocrinol (Oxf). 2016;84(2):257-64.

59. Morris LGT, Myssiorek D. Improved detection does not fully explain the rising incidence of well-differentiated thyroid cancer: a population-based analysis. The American Journal of Surgery. 2010;200(4):454-61.

60. Larønningen S AG, Bray F, Engholm G, Ervik M, Guðmundsdóttir EM, Gulbrandsen J, Hansen HL, Hansen HM, Johannesen TB, Kristensen S, Kristiansen MF, Lam F, Laversanne M, Miettinen J, Mørch LS, Ólafsdóttir E, Pejicic S, Petterson D, Steig BÁ, Sko. NORDCAN: Cancer Incidence, Mortality, Prevalence and Survival in the Nordic Countries 2024 [Available from: https://nordcan.iarc.fr/.

61.RCC. Standardiserad vårdförlopp sköldkörtelcancer 2023[Availablefrom:

https://kunskapsbanken.cancercentrum.se/diagnoser/skoldkortelcancer/vardforlopp/.

62. Trimboli P, Durante C. Ultrasound risk stratification systems for thyroid nodule: between lights and shadows, we are moving towards a new era. Endocrine. 2020;69(1):1-4.

63. Guth S, Theune U, Aberle J, Galach A, Bamberger CM. Very high prevalence of thyroid nodules detected by high frequency (13 MHz) ultrasound examination. Eur J Clin Invest. 2009;39(8):699-706.

64. Choi SH, Kim EK, Kwak JY, Kim MJ, Son EJ. Interobserver and intraobserver variations in ultrasound assessment of thyroid nodules. Thyroid. 2010;20(2):167-72.

65. Persichetti A, Di Stasio E, Coccaro C, Graziano F, Bianchini A, Di Donna V, et al. Inter- and Intraobserver Agreement in the Assessment of Thyroid Nodule Ultrasound Features and Classification Systems: A Blinded Multicenter Study. Thyroid. 2020;30(2):237-42.

66. Solbiati L, Volterrani L, Rizzatto G, Bazzocchi M, Busilacci P, Candiani F, et al. The thyroid gland with low uptake lesions: evaluation by ultrasound. Radiology. 1985;155(1):187-91.

67. Scheible W, Leopold GR, Woo VL, Gosink BB. Highresolution real-time ultrasonography of thyroid nodules. Radiology. 1979;133(2):413-7.

68. Kim EK, Park CS, Chung WY, Oh KK, Kim DI, Lee JT, et al. New sonographic criteria for recommending fine-needle aspiration biopsy of nonpalpable solid nodules of the thyroid. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 2002;178(3):687-91.

69. Nam-Goong IS, Kim HY, Gong G, Lee HK, Hong SJ, Kim WB, et al. Ultrasonography-guided fine-needle aspiration of thyroid incidentaloma: correlation with pathological findings. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf). 2004;60(1):21-8.

70. Brito JP, Gionfriddo MR, Al Nofal A, Boehmer KR, Leppin AL, Reading C, et al. The accuracy of thyroid nodule ultrasound to predict thyroid cancer: systematic review and meta-analysis. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2014;99(4):1253-63.

71. Horvath E, Majlis S, Rossi R, Franco C, Niedmann JP, Castro A, et al. An ultrasonogram reporting system for thyroid nodules stratifying cancer risk for clinical management. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2009;94(5):1748-51.

72. AmericanCollegeofRadiology B-R. ACRBI-RADS®ultrasound. In:ACRBI-RADSbreast imagingandreportingdatasystem: breastimagingatlas.4thed. Reston,VA:AmericanCollegeofRadiology. 2003:1-86.

73. Griffin AS, Mitsky J, Rawal U, Bronner AJ, Tessler FN, Hoang JK. Improved Quality of Thyroid Ultrasound Reports After Implementation of the ACR Thyroid Imaging Reporting and Data System Nodule Lexicon and Risk Stratification System. J Am Coll Radiol. 2018;15(5):743-8.

74. Hoang JK, Nguyen XV. Understanding the Risks and Harms of Management of Incidental Thyroid Nodules: A Review. JAMA Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg. 2017;143(7):718-24.

75. Durante C, Hegedüs L, Na DG, Papini E, Sipos JA, Baek JH, et al. International Expert Consensus on US Lexicon for Thyroid Nodules. Radiology. 2023;309(1):e231481.

76. Hoang JK, Middleton WD, Tessler FN. Update on ACR TI-RADS: Successes, Challenges, and Future Directions, From the AJR Special Series on Radiology Reporting and Data Systems. American Journal of Roentgenology. 2021;216(3):570-8.

77. Shin JH, Baek JH, Chung J, Ha EJ, Kim J-h, Lee YH, et al. Ultrasonography Diagnosis and Imaging-Based Management of Thyroid Nodules: Revised Korean Society of Thyroid Radiology Consensus Statement and Recommendations. Korean J Radiol. 2016;17(3):370-95.

78. Russ G, Bonnema SJ, Erdogan MF, Durante C, Ngu R, Leenhardt L. European Thyroid Association Guidelines for Ultrasound Malignancy Risk Stratification of Thyroid Nodules in Adults: The EU-TIRADS. European Thyroid Journal. 2017;6(5):225-37.

79. Campanella P, Ianni F, Rota CA, Corsello SM, Pontecorvi A. Quantification of cancer risk of each clinical and ultrasonographic suspicious feature of thyroid nodules: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Eur J Endocrinol. 2014;170(5):R203-11.

80. Kim SS, Kim MR, Mok JY, Huh JE, Jeon YK, Kim BH, et al. Benign cystic nodules may have ultrasonographic features mimicking papillary thyroid carcinoma during interval changes. Endocr J. 2011;58(8):633-8.

81. Lee JY, Na DG, Yoon SJ, Gwon HY, Paik W, Kim T, et al. Ultrasound malignancy risk stratification of thyroid nodules based on the degree of hypoechogenicity and echotexture. Eur Radiol. 2020;30(3):1653-63.

82. Moon WJ, Jung SL, Lee JH, Na DG, Baek JH, Lee YH, et al. Benign and malignant thyroid nodules: US differentiation--multicenter retrospective study. Radiology. 2008;247(3):762-70.

83. Popowicz B, Klencki M, Lewiński A, Słowińska-Klencka D. The usefulness of sonographic features in selection of thyroid nodules for biopsy in relation to the nodule's size. European journal of endocrinology. 2009;161(1):103-11.

84. Tahvildari AM, Pan L, Kong CS, Desser T. Sonographic-Pathologic Correlation for Punctate Echogenic Reflectors in Papillary Thyroid Carcinoma: What Are They? J Ultrasound Med. 2016;35(8):1645-52.

85. Middleton WD, Teefey SA, Reading CC, Langer JE, Beland MD, Szabunio MM, et al. Multiinstitutional Analysis of Thyroid Nodule Risk Stratification Using the American College of Radiology Thyroid Imaging Reporting and Data System. American journal of roentgenology (1976). 2017;208(6):1331-41.

86. Na DG, Baek JH, Sung JY, Kim J-H, Kim JK, Choi YJ, et al. Thyroid Imaging Reporting and Data System Risk Stratification of Thyroid Nodules: Categorization Based on Solidity and Echogenicity. Thyroid®. 2016;26(4):562-72.

87. Franzen S. The bone marrow punctate in polycythaemia vera before and after treatment with P32; a preliminary report. Acta Med Scand. 1953;145(4):311-4.

88. Franzen S, Giertz G, Zajicek J. Cytological diagnosis of prostatic tumours by transrectal aspiration biopsy: a preliminary report. Br J Urol. 1960;32:193-6.

89. Löwhagen T, Sprenger E. [Aspiration cytology in the differential diagnostic of palpable lesions of the thyroid (report) (author's transl)]. Verh Dtsch Ges Pathol. 1973;57:155-60.

90. Löwhagen T, Sprenger E. Cytologic presentation of thyroid tumors in aspiration biopsy smear. A review of 60 cases. Acta Cytol. 1974;18(3):192-7.

91. Hamberger B, Gharib H, Melton LJ, 3rd, Goellner JR, Zinsmeister AR. Fine-needle aspiration biopsy of thyroid nodules. Impact on thyroid practice and cost of care. Am J Med. 1982;73(3):381-4.

92. Jansson S, Eggertsen R, Grunditz T, Mölne J, Nyström E, Reihnér E, et al. [Quality shortages in the diagnostics of thyroid nodules. National guidelines should be introduced]. : Diagnostiken av knöl i tyreoidea uppvisar kvalitetsbrister. Nationella riktlinjer bör införas. Läkartidningen, 2011, Vol 108, Iss 12, pp 664-8. 2011;108(12):664-8.

93. Cibas ES, Ali SZ. The Bethesda System For Reporting Thyroid Cytopathology. Am J Clin Pathol. 2009;132(5):658-65.

94. Cibas ES, Ali SZ. The 2017 Bethesda System for Reporting Thyroid Cytopathology. Thyroid. 2017;27(11):1341-6.

95. Dralle H, Musholt TJ, Schabram J, Steinmüller T, Frilling A, Simon D, et al. German Association of Endocrine Surgeons practice guideline for the surgical management of malignant thyroid tumors. Langenbecks Arch Surg. 2013;398(3):347-75.

96. Alexander EK, Cibas ES. Diagnosis of thyroid nodules. The lancet Diabetes & endocrinology. 2022;10(7):533-9.

97. Lind P, Nordenström E, Johansson L, Wallin G, Daskalakis K. Impact of fine-needle aspiration cytology in thyroidectomy extent and associated surgical morbidity in thyroid cancer. Langenbecks Arch Surg. 2024;409(1):68.

98. Mu N, Juhlin CC, Tani E, Sofiadis A, Reihnér E, Zedenius J, et al. High Ki-67 index in fine needle aspiration cytology of follicular thyroid tumors is associated with increased risk of carcinoma. Endocrine. 2018;61(2):293-302.

99. Allen L, Al Afif A, Rigby MH, Bullock MJ, Trites J, Taylor SM, et al. The role of repeat fine needle aspiration in managing indeterminate thyroid nodules. J Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg. 2019;48(1):16.

100. Salem FA, Almquist M, Nordenström E, Dahlberg J, Hessman O, Lundgren CI, et al. A Nested Case-Control Study on the Risk of Surgical Site Infection After Thyroid Surgery. World J Surg. 2018;42(8):2454-61.

101. Salem FA, Bergenfelz A, Nordenström E, Dahlberg J, Hessman O, Lundgren CI, et al. Evaluating risk factors for re-exploration due to postoperative neck hematoma after thyroid surgery: a nested case-control study. Langenbecks Arch Surg. 2019;404(7):815-23.

102. Chaigneau E, Russ G, Royer B, Bigorgne C, Bienvenu-Perrard M, Rouxel A, et al. TIRADS score is of limited clinical value for risk stratification of indeterminate cytological results. European journal of endocrinology. 2018;179(1):13-20.

103. Noureldine SI, Najafian A, Aragon Han P, Olson MT, Genther DJ, Schneider EB, et al. Evaluation of the Effect of Diagnostic Molecular Testing on the Surgical Decision-Making Process for Patients With Thyroid Nodules. JAMA Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg. 2016;142(7):676-82.

104. Noureldine SI, Olson MT, Agrawal N, Prescott JD, Zeiger MA, Tufano RP. Effect of Gene Expression Classifier Molecular Testing on the Surgical Decision-Making Process for Patients With Thyroid Nodules. JAMA Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg. 2015;141(12):1082-8.

105. Alsina J, Alsina R, Gulec S. A Concise Atlas of Thyroid Cancer Next-Generation Sequencing Panel ThyroSeq v.2. Mol Imaging Radionucl Ther. 2017;26(Suppl 1):102-17.

106. Steinmetz D, Kim M, Choi JH, Yeager T, Samuel K, Khajoueinejad N, et al. How Effective is the Use of Molecular Testing in Preoperative Decision Making for Management of Indeterminate Thyroid Nodules? World J Surg. 2022;46(12):3043-50.

107. Livhits MJ, Zhu CY, Kuo EJ, Nguyen DT, Kim J, Tseng CH, et al. Effectiveness of Molecular Testing Techniques for Diagnosis of Indeterminate Thyroid Nodules: A Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA Oncol. 2021;7(1):70-7.

108. Shapiro S, Pharaon M, Kellermeyer B. Cost-effectiveness of Gene Expression Classifier Testing of Indeterminate Thyroid Nodules Utilizing a Real Cohort Comparator. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg. 2017;157(4):596-601.

109. Lee L, How J, Tabah RJ, Mitmaker EJ. Cost-effectiveness of molecular testing for thyroid nodules with atypia of undetermined significance cytology. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2014;99(8):2674-82.

110. Li H, Robinson KA, Anton B, Saldanha IJ, Ladenson PW. Costeffectiveness of a novel molecular test for cytologically indeterminate thyroid nodules. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2011;96(11):E1719-26.

111. Yip L, Farris C, Kabaker AS, Hodak SP, Nikiforova MN, McCoy KL, et al. Cost impact of molecular testing for indeterminate thyroid

nodule fine-needle aspiration biopsies. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2012;97(6):1905-12.

112. Labourier E. Utility and cost-effectiveness of molecular testing in thyroid nodules with indeterminate cytology. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf). 2016;85(4):624-31.

113. Najafzadeh M, Marra CA, Lynd LD, Wiseman SM. Costeffectiveness of using a molecular diagnostic test to improve preoperative diagnosis of thyroid cancer. Value Health. 2012;15(8):1005-13.

114. Rivas AM, Nassar A, Zhang J, Casler JD, Chindris AM, Smallridge R, et al. ThyroSeq(®)V2.0 Molecular Testing: A Cost-Effective Approach for the Evaluation of Indeterminate Thyroid Nodules. Endocr Pract. 2018;24(9):780-8.

115. Almquist M, Muth A. Surgical management of cytologically indeterminate thyroid nodules. Gland Surgery. 2019:S105-S11.

116. Ito Y, Miyauchi A, Oda H. Low-risk papillary microcarcinoma of the thyroid: A review of active surveillance trials. European Journal of Surgical Oncology. 2018;44(3):307-15.

117. Cooper DS, Doherty GM, Haugen BR, Kloos RT, Lee SL, Mandel SJ, et al. Revised American Thyroid Association management guidelines for patients with thyroid nodules and differentiated thyroid cancer. Thyroid. 2009;19(11):1167-214.

118. Bilimoria KY, Bentrem DJ, Ko CY, Stewart AK, Winchester DP, Talamonti MS, et al. Extent of surgery affects survival for papillary thyroid cancer. Ann Surg. 2007;246(3):375-81; discussion 81-4.

119. Grant CS, Hay ID, Gough IR, Bergstralh EJ, Goellner JR, McConahey WM. Local recurrence in papillary thyroid carcinoma: is extent of surgical resection important? Surgery. 1988;104(6):954-62.

120. Hughes DT, White ML, Miller BS, Gauger PG, Burney RE, Doherty GM. Influence of prophylactic central lymph node dissection on postoperative thyroglobulin levels and radioiodine treatment in papillary thyroid cancer. Surgery. 2010;148(6):1100-6; discussion 006-7.

121. Lang BH, Wong KP, Wan KY, Lo CY. Impact of routine unilateral central neck dissection on preablative and postablative stimulated thyroglobulin levels after total thyroidectomy in papillary thyroid carcinoma. Ann Surg Oncol. 2012;19(1):60-7.

122. Wang TS, Evans DB, Fareau GG, Carroll T, Yen TW. Effect of prophylactic central compartment neck dissection on serum thyroglobulin and recommendations for adjuvant radioactive iodine in patients with differentiated thyroid cancer. Ann Surg Oncol. 2012;19(13):4217-22.

123. Chisholm EJ, Kulinskaya E, Tolley NS. Systematic review and meta-analysis of the adverse effects of thyroidectomy combined with central neck dissection as compared with thyroidectomy alone. Laryngoscope. 2009;119(6):1135-9.

124. Pacini F, Schlumberger M, Dralle H, Elisei R, Smit JW, Wiersinga W. European consensus for the management of patients with differentiated thyroid carcinoma of the follicular epithelium. Eur J Endocrinol. 2006;154(6):787-803.

125. Leboulleux S, Bournaud C, Chougnet CN, Zerdoud S, Al Ghuzlan A, Catargi B, et al. Thyroidectomy without Radioiodine in Patients with Low-Risk Thyroid Cancer. N Engl J Med. 2022;386(10):923-32.

126. Aashiq M, Silverman DA, Na'ara S, Takahashi H, Amit M. Radioiodine-Refractory Thyroid Cancer: Molecular Basis of Redifferentiation Therapies, Management, and Novel Therapies. Cancers (Basel). 2019;11(9).

127. Schlumberger M, Brose M, Elisei R, Leboulleux S, Luster M, Pitoia F, et al. Definition and management of radioactive iodine-refractory differentiated thyroid cancer. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol. 2014;2(5):356-8.

128. Shen X, Liu R, Xing M. A six-genotype genetic prognostic model for papillary thyroid cancer. Endocr Relat Cancer. 2017;24(1):41-52.

129. Liu R, Bishop J, Zhu G, Zhang T, Ladenson PW, Xing M. Mortality Risk Stratification by Combining BRAF V600E and TERT Promoter Mutations in Papillary Thyroid Cancer: Genetic Duet of BRAF and TERT Promoter Mutations in Thyroid Cancer Mortality. JAMA oncology. 2017;3(2):202-8.

130. Liu R, Xing M. TERT promoter mutations in thyroid cancer. Endocr Relat Cancer. 2016;23(3):R143-55.

131. Nilsson JN, Siikanen J, Condello V, Jatta K, Saini R, Hedman C, et al. Iodine avidity in papillary and poorly differentiated thyroid cancer is predicted by immunohistochemical and molecular work-up. Eur Thyroid J. 2023;12(4).

132. Schlumberger M, Tahara M, Wirth LJ, Robinson B, Brose MS, Elisei R, et al. Lenvatinib versus placebo in radioiodine-refractory thyroid cancer. N Engl J Med. 2015;372(7):621-30.

133. Brose MS, Nutting CM, Jarzab B, Elisei R, Siena S, Bastholt L, et al. Sorafenib in radioactive iodine-refractory, locally advanced or metastatic differentiated thyroid cancer: a randomised, double-blind, phase 3 trial. Lancet. 2014;384(9940):319-28.

134. Kim M, Jin M, Jeon MJ, Kim EY, Shin DY, Lim DJ, et al. Lenvatinib Compared with Sorafenib as a First-Line Treatment for Radioactive Iodine-Refractory, Progressive, Differentiated Thyroid Carcinoma: Real-World Outcomes in a Multicenter Retrospective Cohort Study. Thyroid. 2023;33(1):91-9.

135. Ho AL, Grewal RK, Leboeuf R, Sherman EJ, Pfister DG, Deandreis D, et al. Selumetinib-enhanced radioiodine uptake in advanced thyroid cancer. N Engl J Med. 2013;368(7):623-32.

136. Weber M, Kersting D, Riemann B, Brandenburg T, Führer-Sakel D, Grünwald F, et al. Enhancing Radioiodine Incorporation into Radioiodine-Refractory Thyroid Cancer with MAPK Inhibition (ERRITI): A Single-Center Prospective Two-Arm Study. Clin Cancer Res. 2022;28(19):4194-202.

137. Leboulleux S, Do Cao C, Zerdoud S, Attard M, Bournaud C, Lacroix L, et al. A Phase II Redifferentiation Trial with Dabrafenib-Trametinib and 1311 in Metastatic Radioactive Iodine Refractory BRAF p.V600E-Mutated Differentiated Thyroid Cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2023;29(13):2401-9.

138. Van Nostrand D, Veytsman I, Kulkarni K, Heimlich L, Burman KD. Redifferentiation of Differentiated Thyroid Cancer: Clinical Insights from a Narrative Review of Literature. Thyroid. 2023;33(6):674-81.

139. Segerhammar I, Larsson C, Nilsson IL, Bäckdahl M, Höög A, Wallin G, et al. Anaplastic carcinoma of the thyroid gland: treatment and outcome over 13 years at one institution. J Surg Oncol. 2012;106(8):981-6.

140. Lim AM, Taylor GR, Fellowes A, Cameron L, Lee B, Hicks RJ, et al. BRAF Inhibition in BRAFV600E-Positive Anaplastic Thyroid Carcinoma. J Natl Compr Canc Netw. 2016;14(3):249-54.

141. Subbiah V, Kreitman RJ, Wainberg ZA, Cho JY, Schellens JHM, Soria JC, et al. Dabrafenib plus trametinib in patients with BRAF V600E-mutant anaplastic thyroid cancer: updated analysis from the phase II ROAR basket study. Ann Oncol. 2022;33(4):406-15.

142. Capdevila J, Wirth LJ, Ernst T, Ponce Aix S, Lin CC, Ramlau R, et al. PD-1 Blockade in Anaplastic Thyroid Carcinoma. J Clin Oncol. 2020;38(23):2620-7.

143. Dierks C, Seufert J, Aumann K, Ruf J, Klein C, Kiefer S, et al. Combination of Lenvatinib and Pembrolizumab Is an Effective Treatment Option for Anaplastic and Poorly Differentiated Thyroid Carcinoma. Thyroid. 2021;31(7):1076-85.

144. Socialstyrelsen. National Cancer Register 2024 [Available from: <u>https://www.socialstyrelsen.se/en/statistics-and-data/registers/national-cancer-register/</u>.

145. Vaccarella S, Franceschi S, Bray F, Wild CP, Plummer M, Dal Maso L. Worldwide Thyroid-Cancer Epidemic? The Increasing Impact of Overdiagnosis. N Engl J Med. 2016;375(7):614-7.

146. Kitahara CM, Sosa JA. Understanding the ever-changing incidence of thyroid cancer. Nat Rev Endocrinol. 2020;16(11):617-8.

147. Ahn HS, Welch HG. South Korea's Thyroid-Cancer "Epidemic" — Turning the Tide. New England Journal of Medicine. 2015;373(24):2389-90.

148. Shaha AR, Tuttle RM. Active surveillance for micropapillary thyroid carcinoma: a clinical review. Gland Surg. 2024;13(1):100-7.

149. Kitahara CM, Sosa JA. The changing incidence of thyroid cancer. Nat Rev Endocrinol. 2016;12(11):646-53.
150. Lim H, Devesa SS, Sosa JA, Check D, Kitahara CM. Trends in Thyroid Cancer Incidence and Mortality in the United States, 1974-2013. Jama. 2017;317(13):1338-48.

151. Hawkins SP, Jamieson SG, Coomarasamy CN, Low IC. The global epidemic of thyroid cancer overdiagnosis illustrated using 18 months of consecutive nodule biopsy correlating clinical priority, ACR-TIRADS and Bethesda scoring. J Med Imaging Radiat Oncol. 2021;65(3):309-16.

152. Kovatcheva RD, Shinkov AD, Dimitrova ID, Ivanova RB, Vidinov KN, Ivanova RS. Evaluation of the Diagnostic Performance of EU-TIRADS in Discriminating Benign from Malignant Thyroid Nodules: A Prospective Study in One Referral Center. Eur Thyroid J. 2021;9(6):304-12.

153. Smeds S, Anderberg B, Boeryd B, Ericson LE, Gillquist J, Persliden J. The nude mouse. A possible experimental model for investigation of human thyroid tissue. J Endocrinol Invest. 1981;4(1):11-5.

154. Wunderlich A, Khoruzhyk M, Roth S, Ramaswamy A, Greene BH, Doll D, et al. Pretherapeutic drug evaluation by tumor xenografting in anaplastic thyroid cancer. J Surg Res. 2013;185(2):676-83.

155. Maniakas A, Henderson YC, Hei H, Peng S, Chen Y, Jiang Y, et al. Novel Anaplastic Thyroid Cancer PDXs and Cell Lines: Expanding Preclinical Models of Genetic Diversity. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2021;106(11):e4652-e65.

156. Xue Z, Nuerrula Y, Sitiwaerdi Y, Eli M. Nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 2 promotes radioresistance by regulating glutamatecysteine ligase modifier subunit and its unique immunoinvasive pattern. Biomol Biomed. 2024.

157. Naumann FV, Kaanders J, Peeters WJM, Adema GJ, Sweep F, Bussink J, et al. Radiotherapy induces an increase in serum antioxidant capacity reflecting tumor response. Clin Transl Radiat Oncol. 2024;45:100726.

158. Riess JW, Frankel P, Shackelford D, Dunphy M, Badawi RD, Nardo L, et al. Phase 1 Trial of MLN0128 (Sapanisertib) and CB-839 HCl (Telaglenastat) in Patients With Advanced NSCLC (NCI 10327): Rationale and Study Design. Clinical Lung Cancer. 2021;22(1):67-70.

159. Kitahara CM, Pfeiffer RM, Sosa JA, Shiels MS. Impact of Overweight and Obesity on US Papillary Thyroid Cancer Incidence Trends (1995-2015). J Natl Cancer Inst. 2020;112(8):810-7.